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Chairman’s Statement and
Management Discussion and Analysis
BUSINESS REVIEW

On 13 November 2007, the Group successfully entered into an agreement with Food Company
of Ho Chi Minh City, a wholly-owned member of Vietnam Southern Food Corporation (“VSFC”)
(a Vietnam state-owned enterprise) to establish a joint venture in Vietnam. The joint venture
company will be engaged in the operation of convenience store, other retail and commercial
business. Details of this agreement were disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 14
November 2007.
On 14 April 2008, the Group entered into a further agreement with VSFC to purchase 5%
of the current equity interest in Saigon Port-Hiep Phuoc Joint Stock Company (“Saigon Port
Company”) for a total consideration of VND3,155 million (approximately HK$1.5 million). The
Saigon Port Company was established in Vietnam and is principally engaged in the construction
and operation of the Saigon – Hiep Phuoc Port located in Vietnam. The total investment capital
of the Saigon Port Project is estimated at VND2,735,000,000,000 (approximately HK$1.3 billion).
Details of this agreement were disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 14 April 2008.
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During the Year, the Group continued to look for strategic investments with growth potential to
complement and diversify its existing businesses. With a young population and steady growth in
disposal incomes, the economy of Vietnam has been growing rapidly, in particular after Vietnam’s
entry as a member of the World Trade Organization in January 2007. The Board believes that
investment in an economy with high growth and potential such as that of Vietnam, if successful,
will bring a myriad of economic benefits to the Group. In order to establish a foothold in the
growing Vietnam market, the Group, on 2 October 2007, entered into a referral agreement with
Golden Resources Development International Limited (a company listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, Stock Code: 677) (“Golden Resources”) to
explore business opportunities in Vietnam covering convenience store and other retail business,
provision of logistics services and investment in port infrastructure. Details of this agreement were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 8 October 2007.

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

The Group’s revenue for the Year was HK$27.3 million, representing an increase of HK$5.4
million or 24.5% compared with last year. This was mainly attributable to an increase of HK$47.4
million in sales revenue of electronic products. The net loss for the Year was HK$222.9 million,
compared to the net loss of HK$38.8 million last year. Loss per share for the Year increased to
HK11.02 cents (2007: HK3.16 cents). The Group’s net loss for the Year was primarily attributable
to a net loss of HK$213.8 million in treasury investment.

Chairman’s Statement and
Management Discussion and Analysis

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

On 30 April 2008, the Group entered into a master franchise and license agreement (“the License
Agreement”) with Circle K Stores Inc. (“Circle K”). Under the License Agreement, Circle K grants
to the Group an exclusive right to own and operate Circle K stores located in Vietnam for a period
of twenty-five (25) years.
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Thus in the second half of the Year, the Group was successfully building up its platform and
starting to establish its convenience store business and port infrastructure investment in Vietnam.
During the Year, sales of electronic products increased by HK$47.4 million or 70.3% to
HK$114.8 million. The increase in revenue was mainly due to sales orders for certain new
electronic products. With strict cost control and contributions from sales of these new electronic
products, the operating loss of the electronic products segment has been decreased by HK$2.2
million to HK$0.4 million for the Year.
The Group continued to utilize its available funds in treasury investment. During the Year, the
local stock market was very volatile and highly vulnerable to any adverse changes in market
conditions. In the second half of the Year, the ripple effect of the sub-prime crisis in the US
coupled with macro economic controls in Mainland China eroded local stock market sentiment
and investor confidence. The Hang Seng Index fell by approximately 11,500 points from its
historical high of 32,000 points in October 2007 to its lowest points of approximately 20,500
points in March 2008. This recent local stock market turbulence has adversely affected the
performance of the Group’s treasury investment segment. This segment for the Year incurred a
net loss of HK$213.8 million.

PROSPECTS
Despite the recent outbreak of financial turmoil in Vietnam, the Group will, in the year ahead,
continue to negotiate with VSFC or other strategic partners in exploring other business
opportunities in Vietnam. It is expected that the recent financial turmoil was cyclical and could be
properly addressed and that the Vietnam economy will grow in the long run. With the Vietnam
market as its future strategic investment focus, the Group will continue its efforts to explore
and develop businesses with high growth potential in Vietnam. The Board believes that existing
Vietnam projects would have considerable growth potential and bring new income streams to the
Group in the long run.
Looking ahead, as global economic uncertainties will persist, the Group will be placed on alert
and will continue to pursue a prudent strategy in developing its existing and new businesses.

Chairman’s Statement and
Management Discussion and Analysis
FINANCIAL REVIEW

Administrative expenses for the Year came to HK$39.2 million, representing an increase of
HK$21.6 million or 122.2% compared with last year. The increase was mainly due to the
provision of HK$15.2 million for the equity–settled share option arrangement during the Year.
The loss for the Year was HK$222.9 million, compared to the loss of HK$38.8 million last year.
The increased loss for the Year was attributable to the fair value loss on listed equity investments
of HK$222.6 million. As at 31 March 2008, the Group’s net asset value increased by HK$91.2
million or 22.5% to HK$495.8 million. This was mainly due to the placement of new shares. The
Group maintained a sound financial position in terms of strong liquidity.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2008, the Group had no bank overdrafts, short and long term interest-bearing
bank borrowings (at 31 March 2007: Nil).
As at 31 March 2008, the Group’s current ratio was 25.0 times (at 31 March 2007: 6.5 times)
based on current assets of HK$602.9 million (at 31 March 2007: HK$190.3 million) and current
liabilities of HK$24.1 million (at 31 March 2007: HK$29.3 million).
As at 31 March 2008, the Group had capital commitments for capital contribution to a joint
venture company of HK$66.9 million (2007: Nil). Apart from that, the Group had no other
contingent liabilities or other material commitments.
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During the Year, the Group generally financed its operation with internally generated cash flow
and banking facilities and the placing of new shares. The Group’s bank and short-term deposits
as at 31 March 2008 increased to HK$251.3 million (at 31 March 2007: HK$55.4 million). The
increase was mainly due to the issuance of new shares with the net proceeds of HK$328.6
million during the Year.

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

The Group’s revenue for the Year was HK$27.3 million, representing an increase of HK$5.4
million or 24.5% compared with last year. The Group’s revenue principally comprised the sales of
electronic products of HK$114.8 million and the loss on disposal of listed equity investments of
HK$87.5 million from treasury investment. During the Year, the revenue from electronic products
increased by HK$47.4 million or 70.3% to HK$114.8 million.

Chairman’s Statement and
Management Discussion and Analysis
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

As at 31 March 2008, the Group’s gearing ratio, being convertible bonds payable to net worth
and convertible bonds payable was 23.7% (at 31 March 2007: Nil).
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The Group’s bank deposits and borrowings are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars. Most
of the Group’s sales and purchases are made in United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars.
Therefore, the exchange risks the Group is exposed to are minimal.
On 6 July 2007, the Company entered into an agreement with a placing agent for placement of
271,900,000 new shares at HK$0.21 per share. The 271,900,000 placing shares represented
approximately 20% of the then issued share capital of the Company. The net proceeds from the
placing of approximately HK$55.7 million were used as additional working capital for the Group.
On 2 October 2007, the Company and High Super Enterprises Limited (“the Subscriber”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Golden Resources, entered into a subscription agreement. Under
the subscription agreement, the Subscriber agreed to subscribe for 680 million new shares,
representing approximately 29.31% of the then enlarged issued share capital of the Company for
a total price of HK$170 million. The new shares subscription was completed on 21 November
2007. Details of this subscription agreement were disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 8 October 2007.
On 12 October 2007, a best efforts placing agreement was completed and a total of
500,000,000 best efforts placing shares of the Company at HK$0.21 per share were allotted and
issued. The net proceeds from this placing were approximately HK$102.9 million.
On 16 November 2007, a three-year HK$200 million zero coupon convertible bonds agreement
was completed. The convertible bonds can be converted into 800,000,000 ordinary shares of the
Company at the conversion price of HK$0.25 per share. The net proceeds from this placing were
approximately HK$196 million.

Chairman’s Statement and
Management Discussion and Analysis
SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 March 2008, the Group maintained a portfolio of equity investments (including availablefor-sale equity investments and equity investments at fair value through profit or loss) with total
carrying amount of HK$351.6 million. The related dividend income for the Year was HK$4.5
million.

CHARGES ON ASSETS
As at 31 March 2008, a fixed deposit of HK$7.3 million (2007: HK$7.0 million) was pledged to
secure banking facilities granted to the Group.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

EMPLOYMENT, TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT
As at 31 March 2008, the Group had a total of 44 employees, of which 21 were based in
Hong Kong and 23 based in Mainland China. The Group is committed to staff training and
development and organized structured training programs for all employees.
Remuneration packages are maintained at a competitive level and reviewed on a periodic
basis. Bonuses and share options are awarded to certain employees according to individual
performance and industry practice.
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During the Year, the Company had no material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and
associates.

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

As at 31 March 2008, the Group held the convertible notes issued by a company listed on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited with fair value amount of the conversion option derivative
of HK$1.6 million and the carrying amount of the loan portion of HK$43.3 million. The fair value
of the loan portion is approximated to its fair value. The interest income for the Year was HK$4.7
million.

Chairman’s Statement and
Management Discussion and Analysis
APPRECIATION

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to take this opportunity to express our
appreciation to all management and staff members for their contribution during the past year.
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On behalf of the Board
Wong Howard
Chairman of the Board
Hong Kong, 14 July 2008

Directors and
Senior Management Profile
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Wong Yat Fai, aged 48, is an executive director and a member of the Executive Committee
of the Company. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wong joined
the Group in February 2000. He holds a professional diploma in banking from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wong had over 13 years’ working
experience in an international banking group. He is a non-executive director of C C Land
Holdings Limited, Yugang International Limited, Y.T. Realty Group Limited and The CrossHarbour (Holdings) Limited, all being listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

Mr. Lam is an Executive Committee Member of the Customer Liaison Group for Rice under the
Trade and Industry Department in Hong Kong, and the Executive Committee Member of the
Federation of Hong Kong Industries. He had been awarded the Ap Bac Medal from the Vietnam
Government in recognition of his contribution to the rice industry in Vietnam. Apart from being
active members in different business chambers and associations around the world, Mr. Lam is
also a regular speaker in major international conferences.
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Lam Sai Ho, Anthony, aged 42, is an executive director and a member of the Executive
Committee of the Company. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Lam joined the Group in November 2007. He graduated from the University of Sydney in
Australia, majoring in Economics and Psychology. After graduation, Mr. Lam joined the Merchant
Banking Division of the State Bank of New South Wales, and had been extensively involved in the
corporate financing and the securitization of assets and mortgages. Mr. Lam returned to Hong
Kong and joined Golden Resources Group in 1991 and has been appointed in several key senior
management positions in Hong Kong and other Asian countries including Vietnam and Thailand.
Mr. Lam had been the Chairman of Prosperity Investment Holdings Limited (formerly known
as “GR Investment International Limited”), a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 310) and actively involved in the areas of corporate
finance and investment management.

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Wong Howard, aged 52, is an executive director, the Chairman of the Board, the Chief
Executive Officer and the Chairman of the Executive Committee of the Company. He is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wong joined the Group in February 2000. He
has over 20 years of senior management experience in overall strategy, business development
and retail chain shops establishment. Mr. Wong had been a Managing Director of a listed
company in Hong Kong for two years before joining the Group.

Directors and
Senior Management Profile

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
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Li Chi Ming, aged 50, is an independent non-executive director, the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee of the Company. He joined the
Group in February 2000. Mr. Li holds an Honorary Bachelor of Laws (LLB) and Postgraduate
Certificate in Laws (PCLL) from The University of Hong Kong, and Master of Laws (LLM) from City
University of Hong Kong. He has been a Partner of Messrs Poon, Yeung & Li, Solicitors over 18
years.
Wan Ngar Yin, David, aged 47, is an independent non-executive director and a member of
both the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company. He joined the Group
in September 2004. Mr. Wan holds a bachelor degree in social sciences from The University
of Hong Kong and a master degree in business administration from the University of Sydney
in Australia. Mr. Wan is a member of the Hong Kong Securities Institute, a member of the
CPA Australia, an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
an associate member of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
Tung Tat Chiu, Michael, aged 46, is an independent non-executive director, the Chairman of
the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. He joined
the Group in September 2000. Mr. Tung holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in law and accounting
from The University of Manchester. Mr. Tung is a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong. He is the
company secretary of various listed companies in Hong Kong.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Szeto Pui Tong, Patrick, aged 48, joined the Group in March 2000, is the Financial Controller,
Qualified Accountant and the Company Secretary of the Group. Before joining the Group,
Mr. Szeto has over 13 years of experience in finance and accounting field. Mr. Szeto holds a
master degree of business in accounting from Monash University in Australia and is an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of
Company Secretaries, the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants and the Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.

Report of the Directors
The directors present their report and the audited financial statements of the Company and the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2008 and the state of affairs of the Company and
the Group at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 36 to 112.
The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of the year.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the published audited financial statements, is set out below. This summary does
not form part of the audited financial statements.

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the
subsidiaries comprise the trading and distribution of electronic products and other merchandise
and securities investment and trading. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group’s principal activities during the year.

Report of the Directors
SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
RESULTS

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

2008
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

27,263

21,898

10,323

39,858

15,821

Profit/(loss) before tax
Tax

(238,340)
15,428

(38,800)
–

(46,482)
–

25,125
–

1,204
–

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable
to ordinary equity holders
of the Company

(222,912)

(38,800)

(46,482)

25,125

1,204

As at 31 March
2007
2006
2005
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000

2004
HK$’000

Revenue

Assets and liabilities
2008
HK$’000
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Year ended 31 March
2007
2006
2005
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000

Total assets
Total liabilities

674,272
178,450

443,240
38,607

371,921
14,401

325,003
9,093

242,533
14,148

Net assets

495,822

404,633

357,520

315,910

228,385

Report of the Directors
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 13 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 20 August 2008 to
Friday, 22 August 2008 (both days inclusive) during which period no transfer of shares of the
Company will be registered. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the annual general
meeting of the Company to be held on Friday, 22 August 2008, unregistered holders of shares
of the Company should ensure that all transfers of shares of the Company accompanied by the
relevant share certificates and the appropriate transfer forms must be lodged with the Company’s
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited at 26/F, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 19 August 2008.

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws or the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY
Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company’s listed securities during the year.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share options during the year are set
out in notes 26 and 28 to the financial statements, respectively.

Report of the Directors
RESERVES

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year are set out
in note 27 to the financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity,
respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
At 31 March 2008, the Company had no reserves available for distribution. The Company’s
share premium account and capital redemption reserve, with an aggregate balance of
HK$701,611,000, may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
In the year under review, sales of electronic products to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 99% of the sales from the electronic products segment for the year and sales to
the largest customer included therein amounted to 37%. Purchases of electronic products from
the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 91% of the total purchases from the electronic
products segment for the year and the largest supplier included therein amounted to 37%.
None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or any shareholders (which, to
the best knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital)
had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year were:
Executive directors:
Mr. Wong Howard
Mr. Wong Yat Fai
Mr. Lam Sai Ho, Anthony (appointed on 21 November 2007)
Mr. Wu Qing (resigned on 1 January 2008)
Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Li Chi Ming
Mr. Tung Tat Chiu, Michael
Mr. Wan Ngar Yin, David

Report of the Directors
DIRECTORS (continued)

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from Mr. Li Chi Ming, Mr.
Tung Tat Chiu, Michael and Mr. Wan Ngar Yin, David and as at the date of this report still
considers them to be independent pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior management of the Group
are set out on pages 9 to 10 of the annual report.

Each of Mr. Wong Howard, Mr. Wong Yat Fai and Mr. Lam Sai Ho, Anthony has a service
contract with the Company for a term of two years commencing on 1 February 2007, 1 April
2007 and 21 November 2007 respectively. All of the said service contracts are subject to
termination by either party giving not less than three months’ written notice.
All the independent non-executive directors of the Company have been appointed for a fixed
term of one year commencing on 27 September 2007.
All directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting in
accordance with the bye-laws of the Company.
Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

In accordance with bye-law 98 of the bye-laws of the Company, Mr. Wong Howard and Mr. Wan
Ngar Yin, David, the existing directors of the Company, will retire from office by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. In addition, pursuant to bye-law 103(A) of the bye-laws of
the Company, Mr. Lam Sai Ho, Anthony, who was appointed at the special general meeting of
the Company held on 19 November 2007 as an additional executive director with effect from 21
November 2007, will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting. All of the above retiring
directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the said meeting.

Report of the Directors
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general meetings. Other emoluments
are determined by the Company’s board of directors with reference to directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed above, no director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company currently operates a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) adopted
on 27 August 2003 for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
(including but not limited to the directors and employees of the Group) who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 28 to
the financial statements.
A summary of the movement of the share options granted under the Share Option Scheme
during the year ended 31 March 2008 is set out as follows:–
Number of

Name or
category of
participant

Number of

Number of

Number of

Number of

share options

Exercise

share options

share options

share options

share options

outstanding

price per

outstanding

granted

exercised

cancelled/

as at

share**

as at

during

during

lapsed during

31 March

Date of grant

Exercise period*

(HK$)

1 April 2007

the year

the year***

the year

2008

Wong Howard

13/8/2007

13/8/2007-12/8/2009

0.357

–

16,300,000

–

–

16,300,000

Wong Yat Fai

13/8/2007

13/8/2007-12/8/2009

0.357

–

16,300,000

–

–

16,300,000

Wu Qing****

13/8/2007

13/8/2007-12/8/2009

0.357

16,300,000

–

–

16,300,000

13/8/2007

13/8/2007-12/8/2009

0.357

–

37,290,000

(12,860,000)

–

24,430,000

–

86,190,000

(12,860,000)

–

73,330,000

Director

Other Employees
In aggregate

Report of the Directors
SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
*

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY
As at 31 March 2008, the interests of the directors of the Company in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Future Ordinance
(the “SFO”)), as recorded in the register required to be maintained by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”), were as follows:-

(2)

Long position in ordinary shares of the Company

Name of director

Capacity

Number of
ordinary shares
held

Mr. Wong Howard
Mr. Wong Yat Fai

Beneficial owner
Beneficial owner

21,299,000
21,299,000

Percentage of
the Company’s
issued
share capital
0.75%
0.75%

Long position in underlying shares of the Company – physically settled unlisted
equity derivatives

Name of director

Capacity

Number of
underlying shares
in respect of the
share options
granted

Mr. Wong Howard
Mr. Wong Yat Fai

Beneficial owner
Beneficial owner

16,300,000
16,300,000

Percentage of the
underlying shares
over the
Company’s issued
share capital
0.58%
0.58%
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(1)

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant until the commencement of the
exercise period.
**
The closing prices of the Company’s shares immediately before the date of offer and the date of grant
were HK$0.340 and HK$0.365 respectively.
*** The weighted average closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before the dates on which
the options were exercised was HK$0.587.
**** Mr. Wu Qing resigned as a director of the Company with effect from 1 January 2008. The 16,300,000
share options granted by the Company to Mr. Wu Qing for subscribing 16,300,000 shares of the
Company remain exercisable.

Report of the Directors
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Details of the above share options as required to be disclosed by the Listing Rules have been
disclosed under the heading “Share Option Scheme” above and note 28 to the financial
statements.
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In addition to the above, as at 31 March 2008, certain director(s) had non-beneficial personal
equity interests in certain subsidiaries held for the benefit of the Company solely for the purpose
of complying with the previous requirement of having a minimum of two shareholders.
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2008, none of the directors or chief executive of the
Company had any interests or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which he/she was deemed
or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required to be entered into the
register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed under the headings “Directors’ interests in shares and underlying shares of
the Company” and “Share Option Scheme” above and in the share option scheme disclosures in
note 28 to the financial statements, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any director or
their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

Report of the Directors
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES
At 31 March 2008, the following interests of 5% or more of the Company’s issued share capital
were recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO:

Long/
Short
Position

Capacity

Note

Number of
ordinary
shares

Golden Resources
Development
International Limited

Long

Interests held
by controlled
corporations

(a)

680,000,000

24.07%

High Super Enterprises
Limited

Long

Beneficial Owner

(a)

680,000,000

24.07%

Novatrust Limited

Long

Trustee

(b)

142,410,000

5.04%

Jalner International
Limited

Long

Interests held by a
controlled corporation

(b)

142,410,000

5.04%

Cheyne Capital
Holdings Limited

Long

Interests held by
controlled corporations

(b)

142,410,000

5.04%

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Name of
Substantial
Shareholder

Percentage
of the
Company’s
issued
share capital
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(a)

Golden Resources Development International Limited was deemed to be interested in 680,000,000
shares of the Company reported by High Super Enterprises Limited, a corporation wholly controlled
by Golden Resources Development International Limited indirectly.

(b)

Novatrust Limited was deemed to be interested in 142,410,000 shares of the Company reported by
Jalner International Limited, a corporation wholly controlled by Novatrust Limited; Jalner International
Limited was deemed to be interested in 142,410,000 shares of the Company reported by Cheyne
Capital Holdings Limited, 75% of which was controlled by Jalner International Limited; and Cheyne
Capital Holdings Limited was deemed to be interested in 142,410,000 shares of the Company
through its wholly controlled corporations.
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Notes:

Report of the Directors
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continued)

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2008, no persons had an interest or a short position in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 336 of the SFO.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
directors, the directors confirmed that at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital
was held by the public as at the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS
During the year and up to the date of this report, no director is considered to have interests in a
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses
of the Group, as defined in the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Details of the corporate governance are set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” in the annual report.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
Details of the significant post balance sheet events of the Group are set out in note 36 to the
financial statements.

AUDITORS
Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors of the Company will
be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
On Behalf of the Board
Wong Howard
Chairman
Hong Kong
14 July 2008

Corporate Governance Report
The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is pleased to present this Corporate
Governance Report in the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2008.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
In the opinion of the Board, the Company has applied the principles and complied with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code, except for the code provision A.2.1, throughout the year
ended 31 March 2008. Key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company as
well as the details of the foregoing deviation of code provision are summarized below.

A. THE BOARD
A.1 RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION
The overall management and control of the Company’s business are vested in its
Board. The Board is responsible for establishing policies, strategies and plans,
providing leadership in the attainment of the objective of creating value to shareholders,
and on behalf of the shareholders, overseeing the Company’s financial performance.
All directors carry out their duties in good faith and in compliance with the standards of
applicable laws and regulations, take decisions objectively and acts in the interests of
the Company and its shareholders at all times.
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The Board is committed to enhance the corporate governance practices and standards of the
Company appropriate to the conduct and growth of its business and to review such practices
and standards regularly to ensure that they comply with the statutory and professional standards
and align with the latest developments.

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

The Board believes that good corporate governance practices are important for maintaining
and promoting shareholder value and investor confidence. The Board sets appropriate policies
and implements corporate governance practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of the
Group’s business.

Corporate Governance Report
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The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the Company, including the
approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal
control and risk management systems, material transactions (in particular those may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of directors and other
significant financial and operational matters.
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All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well as the advice
and services of the senior management, with a view to ensuring that Board procedures
and all applicable rules and regulations are followed. Each director is normally able to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expenses, upon reasonable request made to the Board.
The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company are
led by the Executive Committee and the senior management of the Company. The
Board has also delegated a schedule of responsibilities to the senior management of
the Company, which include the implementation of decisions of the Board, the coordination and direction of day-to-day operation and management of the Company
in accordance with the management strategies and plans approved by the Board,
formulating and monitoring the production and operating plans and budgets, and
supervising and monitoring the control systems. The Board has the full support of the
senior management to discharge its responsibilities.
The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed. Approval has to
be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into by the
foregoing officers and senior management.
A.2 BOARD COMPOSITION
The Board currently comprises the following directors:–
Executive directors:–
Mr. Wong Howard, Chairman of the Board and the Executive Committee and
Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Wong Yat Fai, member of the Executive Committee
Mr. Lam Sai Ho, Anthony, member of the Executive Committee

Corporate Governance Report
Independent non-executive directors:–

The list of all directors (by category) is set out under the section headed “Corporate
Information” in this annual report and is also disclosed in all corporate communications
issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to time. The
independent non-executive directors are expressly identified in all corporate
communications of the Company. The biographical details of the directors of the
Company are set out under “Directors and Senior Management Profile” in this annual
report. None of the members of the Board is related to one another.

All directors, including independent non-executive directors, have brought a wide
spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the
Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
The Company has received a written annual confirmation from each independent
non-executive director of his independence pursuant to the requirements of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all of its independent non-executive directors
independent in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in the Listing
Rules. Through active participation in Board meetings, taking the lead in managing
issues involving potential conflict of interests and serving on Board committees, all
independent non-executive directors make various contributions to the effective
direction of the Company.
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During the year ended 31 March 2008, the Board has at all times met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent nonexecutive directors with at least one independent non-executive director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications and accounting and related financial
management expertise. The Company has also adopted the recommended best
practice under the CG Code for having at least one-third of its Board members being
independent non-executive directors.

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Mr. Li Chi Ming, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and member of the
Audit Committee
Mr. Tung Tat Chiu, Michael, Chairman of the Audit Committee and member of
the Remuneration Committee
Mr. Wan Ngar Yin, David, member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee

Corporate Governance Report
A.3 CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
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Mr. Wong Howard is the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company. The Board believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer in the same person provides the Company with strong and consistent
leadership and allows for effective and efficient planning and implementation of
business decisions and strategies.
The Board considers that the current structure of vesting the roles of Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer in the same person will not impair the balance of power and
authority between the Board and the management of the Company.
A.4 APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
Both of Mr. Wong Howard and Mr. Wong Yat Fai, executive directors of the Company,
are engaged on a service contract with the Company for a term of two years
commencing on 1 February 2007 and 1 April 2007 respectively. Mr. Lam Sai Ho,
Anthony, the newly appointed executive director, is engaged on a service contract
for a term of two years from 21 November 2007. All the independent non-executive
directors of the Company have been appointed for a specific term, subject to reelection. The current term of office of all the independent non-executive directors is one
year up to 26 September 2008.
The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of directors are
laid down in the Company’s Bye-laws (the “Bye-laws”). According to the Bye-laws, all
directors of the Company are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years and any new director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the
Board shall submit himself/herself for re-election by shareholders at the first general
meeting after appointment.
Pursuant to the aforesaid, Mr. Lam Sai Ho, Anthony, having been appointed as an
executive director of the Company during the year, shall retire and, being eligible, offer
himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. In
addition, Mr. Wong Howard and Mr. Wan Ngar Yin, David shall retire by rotation and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the said annual general meeting. The
Board recommended the re-appointment of these three retiring directors standing for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The Company’s circular, sent
together with this annual report, contains detailed information of such directors.
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During the year ended 31 March 2008, the Board met once, with the presence of Mr.
Wong Howard, Mr. Wong Yat Fai, Mr. Wu Qing, Mr. Li Chi Ming, Mr. Tung Tat Chiu,
Michael and Mr. Wan Ngar Yin, David, for reviewing the Board structure, assessing
the independence of the independent non-executive directors and recommending the
re-election of the retiring directors standing for re-election at the 2007 annual general
meeting of the Company.

Each newly appointed director of the Company, including Mr. Lam Sai Ho, Anthony
who was appointed during the year ended 31 March 2008, receives an induction on
the first occasion of his/her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Group and that he/she is fully
aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements. Such induction is normally supplemented with visits to the
Group’s key plant sites and/or meetings with the senior management of the Company.
Directors of the Company are continually updated with legal and regulatory
developments, and the business and market changes to facilitate the discharge of
their responsibilities. Besides, continuing briefings and professional development for
directors will be arranged whenever necessary.
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A.5 INDUCTION AND CONTINUING DEVELOPMENT FOR DIRECTORS

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Though the Company has not set up a nomination committee, the Board as a whole
is responsible for reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating the
relevant procedures for nomination and appointment of directors, monitoring the
appointment and succession planning of directors and assessing the independence of
independent non-executive directors. The Company has adopted Directors Nomination
Procedures as written guidelines in providing formal, considered and transparent
procedures to the Board for evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships.
Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Board will carry out the selection process by
making reference to the skills, experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity
and time commitments of the proposed candidates, the Company’s needs and other
relevant statutory requirements and regulations. An external recruitment agency may
be engaged to carry out the recruitment and selection process when necessary.
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A.6 BOARD MEETINGS

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

A.6.1 Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings
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Schedules for regular Board meetings are normally agreed with the directors in
advance in order to facilitate them to attend. In addition to the above, notice of
at least 14 days is given of a regular Board meeting. For other Board meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given.
Draft agenda of each Board meeting is usually sent to all directors together with
the notice in order to give them an opportunity to include any other matters in the
agenda for discussion in the meeting.
Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information
are sent to all directors at least 3 days before each Board meeting to keep
the directors apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the
Group and to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and each
director also have separate and independent access to the senior management
whenever necessary.
The Company Secretary, also the Qualified Accountant of the Company, and
other relevant senior management normally attend regular Board meetings and,
where necessary, other Board and committee meetings to advise on business
developments, financial and accounting matters, statutory compliance, corporate
governance and other major aspects of the Group.
The Company Secretary is responsible to keep minutes of all Board and
committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally circulated to directors for
comments within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is
open for directors’ inspection.
According to current Board practice, any material transaction, which involves a
conflict of interest for a substantial shareholder or a director, will be considered
and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting. The Byelaws contain provisions requiring directors to abstain from voting and not to be
counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which such
directors or any of their associates have a material interest.
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A.6.2 Directors’ Attendance Records in Board Meetings

Name of Director

Attendance/Number of Board Meetings

Executive directors
Mr. Wong Howard
Mr. Wong Yat Fai
Mr. Wu Qing (Note 1)
Mr. Lam Sai Ho, Anthony (Note 2)

7/7
7/7
5/5
2/3

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Li Chi Ming
Mr. Tung Tat Chiu, Michael
Mr. Wan Ngar Yin, David

6/7
6/7
6/7

1.

Mr. Wu Qing resigned as an executive director of the Company on 1 January 2008.
Before his resignation, there were a total of 5 Board meetings held during the year
ended 31 March 2008.

2.

Mr. Lam Sai Ho, Anthony was appointed as an executive director of the Company
on 21 November 2007. Subsequent to his appointment, there were a total of 3
Board meetings held during the year ended 31 March 2008.
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Notes:

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

The Board has met regularly during the year ended 31 March 2008 at
approximately quarterly intervals for reviewing and discussing on the financial
and operating performance of the Group and other related matters. The
attendance records of each director at the Board meetings during the year
ended 31 March 2008 are set out below:
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A.7 MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
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The Company has adopted its own code of conduct regarding directors’ dealings in
the Company’s securities (the “Own Code”) on terms no less exacting than the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Specific enquiry has been made of the
Company’s directors and all of them have confirmed that they have complied with
the required standards set out in the Model Code and the Own Code throughout the
period from 1 April 2007 (the date of appointment for Mr. Lam Sai Ho, Anthony) to the
date of this report. Mr. Wu Qing has also confirmed his compliance of the Model Code
and the Own Code for the period from 1 April 2007 to the date of his resignation.
The Company has also established written guidelines on no less exacting terms than
the Model Code (the “Employees Written Guidelines”) for securities transactions by
employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information
of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines
by the employees was noted by the Company.

B. BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established three Board committees, namely, the Remuneration Committee,
the Audit Committee and the Executive Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. All Board committees have been established with defined written terms
of reference and are available to shareholders upon request. All the Board committees
should report to the Board on their decisions or recommendations made.
The practices, procedures and arrangements in conducting meetings of Board committees
follow in line with, so far as practicable, those of the Board meetings set out in A.6.1 above.
All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and,
upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.
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B.1 REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Remuneration Committee comprises a total of three members, namely Mr. Li Chi
Ming (Chairman), Mr. Tung Tat Chiu, Michael and Mr. Wan Ngar Yin, David, all of them
are independent non-executive directors of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee normally meets annually and has performed the
following major works during the year ended 31 March 2008:–
—

Review and recommendation of the granting of share options of the Company;

—

Recommendation of the remuneration packages of the newly appointed director
of the Company; and

—

Review and recommendation of the remuneration packages of directors of the
Company.

Details of the remuneration of each director of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2008 are set out in note 8 to the financial statements contained in this annual
report.
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The Human Resources Department is responsible for collection and administration
of the human resources data and making recommendations to the Remuneration
Committee for consideration. The Remuneration Committee consults with the
Chairman of the Board/Chief Executive Officer of the Company about these
recommendations on remuneration policy and structure and remuneration packages.

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

The duties of the Remuneration Committee are mainly to (i) make recommendations
on the establishment of procedures for developing remuneration policy and
structure of the executive directors and the senior management, such policy shall
ensure that no director or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/
her own remuneration; (ii) make recommendations on the remuneration packages
of the executive directors and the senior management; (iii) review and approve the
remuneration packages of the executive directors and the senior management by
reference to the performance of the individual and the Company as well as market
practice and conditions; and (iv) review and approve the compensation arrangements
for the executive directors and the senior management.
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The attendance records of the Remuneration Committee meeting are set out as
follows:

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Name of Remuneration Committee Member
Mr. Li Chi Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Tung Tat Chiu, Michael
Mr. Wan Ngar Yin, David

Attendance/Number of Meeting
1/1
1/1
1/1

B.2 AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee comprises a total of three members, namely, Mr. Tung Tat Chiu,
Michael, Mr. Li Chi Ming and Mr. Wan Ngar Yin, David, all of whom are independent
non-executive directors. Mr. Tung Tat Chiu, Michael is the chairman of the Audit
Committee whilst Mr. Wan Ngar Yin, David possesses the appropriate accounting and
financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the Company’s
existing external auditors.
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The duties of the Audit Committee are mainly to (i) review the financial statements
and reports and consider any significant or unusual items raised by the Qualified
Accountant or external auditors before submission to the Board; (ii) review the
relationship with the external auditors by reference to the work performed by the
auditors, their fees and terms of engagement, and make recommendation to the Board
on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditors; and (iii) review
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial reporting system, internal
control system and risk management system and associated procedures.
During the year ended 31 March 2008, the Audit Committee met twice and has
reviewed the financial statements, results announcements and reports for the year
ended 31 March 2007 and for the six months ended 30 September 2007, the financial
reporting and compliance procedures, and the report from the senior management
on the Company’s internal control and risk management; and considered the reappointment of external auditors. The external auditors were invited to attend one of
the meetings without the presence of executive directors to discuss with the Audit
Committee on issues arising from the audit and financial reporting matters.
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There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. There
is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee regarding the reappointment of external auditors.
The attendance records of the Audit Committee meetings are set out as follows:
Attendance/Number of Meetings

Mr. Tung Tat Chiu, Michael (Chairman)
Mr. Li Chi Ming
Mr. Wan Ngar Yin, David

1/2
2/2
2/2

B.3 EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

C. DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING IN
RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors have acknowledged their responsibilities for preparing the financial statements
of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2008.
The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable assessment
of annual and interim reports, price sensitive announcements and other disclosures required
under the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements. The management has provided
such explanation and information to the Board as necessary to enable the Board to make
an informed assessment of the financial information and position of the Group put forward
to the Board for approval.
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The Executive Committee comprises all the executive directors of the Company
with the Chairman of the Board, Mr. Wong Howard, acting as the Chairman of such
Committee. The Executive Committee operates as a general management committee
under the direct authority of the Board to increase the efficiency for the business
decision. It monitors the execution of the Company’s strategic plans and operations of
all business units of the Group and discusses and makes decisions on matters relating
to the management and day-to-day operations of the Group.

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Name of Audit Committee Member
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D. INTERNAL CONTROLS
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The Board has overall responsibility for the internal control system of the Company and
for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board is also responsible for maintaining an adequate
and effective internal control system to safeguard the interests of the shareholders and the
assets of the Company. During the year under review, the Board has conducted a review of
the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group.

E. EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their reporting responsibilities
on the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2008 is set out in the
section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” in this annual report.
A summary of audit and non-audit services provided by the external auditors for the year
ended 31 March 2008 and their corresponding remuneration is as follows:
Nature of services

Amount (HK$)

Audit services
Non-audit services (Note)

1,000,000
213,100

Note: It represents tax compliance service fee.

F. COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS
The Board believes that a transparent and timely disclosure of the Group’s information
will enable shareholders and investors to make the best investment decision and to have
better understanding on the Group’s business performance and strategies. It is also vital for
developing and maintaining continuing investor relations with the Company’s potential and
existing investors.
The Company maintains a website at “www.grvietnam.com” as a communication platform
with shareholders and investors, where information and updates on the Group’s business
developments and operations, financial information, corporate governance practices and
other information are available for public access. Shareholders and investors may write
directly to the Company’s principal place of business at Room 1603-05, 16/F, Harcourt
House, 39 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong or via email to “info@grvietnam.com” for
any inquiries. Inquiries are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.
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The Board also considers that general meetings of the Company provide a useful forum
for shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The Chairman of the Board as well as
the chairmen and/or other members of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee
normally attend the annual general meetings and other shareholders’ meetings of the
Company to answer questions raised.

G. SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue, including the election of
individual directors, for shareholders’ consideration and voting.
Besides, the rights of shareholders and the procedures for demanding a poll on resolutions
at shareholders’ meetings are contained in the Bye-laws. Details of such rights are also
included in all circulars sent to shareholders and, where necessary, explained in the
shareholders’ meetings.
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When poll voting is conducted at a shareholder’s meeting, the poll voting results will be
posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.grvietnam.com) after such meeting.
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The Company continues to enhance communications and relationships with its investors.
Designated senior management maintains regular dialogue with institutional investors and
analysts to keep them acquainted of the Group’s developments.

Independent Auditors’ Report
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS 139 HOLDINGS LIMITED)
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(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
We have audited the financial statements of GR Vietnam Holdings Limited (formerly known
as 139 Holdings Limited) set out on pages 36 to 112, which comprise the consolidated and
company balance sheets as at 31 March 2008, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair
presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

Independent Auditors’ Report
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS 139 HOLDINGS LIMITED)
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
18th Floor
Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street, Central
Hong Kong
14 July 2008
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In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2008 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been
properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

Consolidated Income Statement
Year ended 31 March 2008

Notes

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

REVENUE
Electronic products
Treasury investment
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5
Cost of electronic products sold
Brokerage and commission expenses

2007
HK$’000

114,758
(87,495)

67,401
(45,503)

27,263

21,898

(111,588)
(2,256)

(66,782)
(303)

(113,844)

(67,085)

(86,581)

(45,187)

6,800
(200)
(39,227)
(82)
113,847
–
(3,794)

1,956
(271)
(17,654)
(89)
–
755
–
23,775
(2,062)
(23)

Other income and gains
Selling and distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Other operating expenses
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale equity investments
Gain arising from redemption of convertible notes
Impairment of an available-for-sale equity investment
Fair value gains/(losses), net:
Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss
Conversion option derivative
Finance costs

6

(222,592)
(932)
(5,579)

LOSS BEFORE TAX

7

(238,340)

(38,800)

Tax

10

15,428

–

LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

11

(222,912)

(38,800)

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

12

Basic
Diluted

5

2008
HK$’000

HK(11.02 cents) HK(3.16 cents)
N/A

N/A

Consolidated Balance Sheet
31 March 2008

361
–
43,285
27,768

445
–
39,842
212,669

71,414

252,956

1,588
323,793
162
24,642
1,387
7,274
244,012

2,520
118,873
2,011
10,462
997
6,996
48,425

602,858

190,284

16,413
11
7,689
–

5,866
10
23,327
69

24,113

29,272

NET CURRENT ASSETS

578,745

161,012

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

650,159

413,968

154,315
22

–
9,335

Total non-current liabilities

154,337

9,335

Net assets

495,822

404,633

Notes
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Prepaid land lease payment
Convertible notes-loan portion
Available-for-sale equity investments

13
14
16
17

Total non-current assets
CURRENT ASSETS
Convertible notes-conversion option derivative
Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss
Inventories
Trade and bills receivables
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Pledged time deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

16
18
19
20
21
21

Total current assets
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and bills payables
Tax payable
Other payables and accruals
Finance lease payables

22

23

Total current liabilities

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Convertible bonds
Deferred tax liabilities

24
25
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2007
HK$’000

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

2008
HK$’000

Consolidated Balance Sheet

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

31 March 2008
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EQUITY
Equity attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the Company
Issued capital
Equity component of convertible bonds
Reserves
Total equity

Wong Howard
Director

Notes

2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

26
24
27(a)

28,247
47,257
420,318

13,599
–
391,034

495,822

404,633

Wong Yat Fai
Director

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 March 2008

Attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company

At 1 April 2007
Change in fair values of available-for-sale
equity investments
Deferred tax arising from changes in fair value
of available-for-sale equity investments
Release upon disposal of available-for-sale
equity investments, net of deferred tax
Impairment of an available-for-sale equity
investment
Exchange realignment

Total income and expense for the year
Issue of shares
Share issue expenses
Issue of convertible bonds
Exercise of share options
Equity-settled share option arrangements
At 31 March 2008
*

26
26
24
26
28

Share
option
reserve
HK$’000

13,599

380,286

–

556

–

551,174

81,332

(222)

(622,092)

404,633

–

–

–

–

–

–

34,940

–

–

34,940

–

–

–

–

–

–

(6,115)

–

–

(6,115)

–

–

–

–

–

–

(113,847)

–

–

(113,847)

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

3,794
–

–
(305)

–
–

3,794
(305)

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

(81,228)
–

(305)
–

–
(222,912)

(81,533)
(222,912)

–
14,519
–
–
129
–

–
317,580
(3,545)
–
6,734
–

–
–
–
–
(2,272)
15,232

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
47,257
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

(81,228)
–
–
–
–
–

(305)
–
–
–
–
–

(222,912)
–
–
–
–
–

(304,445)
332,099
(3,545)
47,257
4,591
15,232

28,247

701,055*

12,960*

556*

47,257

551,174*

104*

(527)* (845,004)*

495,822

Total
equity
HK$’000

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$420,318,000 (2007:
HK$391,034,000) in the consolidated balance sheet.
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Total income and expense recognised
directly in equity
Loss for the year

Issued
capital
HK$’000

Share
premium
account
HK$’000

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Notes

AvailableEquity
for-sale
component
equity
of
investment Exchange
Capital convertible Contributed revaluation fluctuation Accumulated
reserve
bonds surplus reserve reserve
losses
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 March 2008

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company
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AvailableEquity
for-sale
component
equity
of
investment Exchange
Capital convertible Contributed revaluation fluctuation Accumulated
reserve
bonds surplus reserve reserve
losses
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Issued
capital
HK$’000

Share
premium
account
HK$’000

Share
option
reserve
HK$’000

11,332

310,000

–

556

–

551,174

67,832

(82)

(583,292)

357,520

–

–

–

–

–

–

16,364

–

–

16,364

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

(2,864)
–

–
(140)

–
–

(2,864)
(140)

Total income and expense recognised
directly in equity
Loss for the year

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

13,500
–

(140)
–

–
(38,800)

13,360
(38,800)

Total income and expense for the year
Issue of shares
Share issue expenses

–
2,267
–

–
71,391
(1,105)

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

13,500
–
–

(140)
–
–

(38,800)
–
–

(25,440)
73,658
(1,105)

13,599

380,286

–

556

–

551,174

81,332

(222)

(622,092)

404,633

Notes
At 1 April 2006
Change in fair values of available-for-sale
equity investments
Deferred tax arising from changes in fair value
of available-for-sale equity investments
Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2007

26
26

Total
equity
HK$’000

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
Year ended 31 March 2008

(238,340)

(38,800)

5
6
7

(6,297)
5,579
224

(1,382)
23
198

5

(3)
–
(113,847)
3,794

–
(755)
–
–

222,592
932
15,232

(23,775)
2,062
–

(110,134)
(3,443)

(62,429)
(3,553)

(427,512)
1,849
(14,180)

56,324
(2,005)
(227)

(390)
10,547
(15,638)
(349)

6,988
5,616
15,653
–

Cash generated from/(used in) operations
Interest paid

(559,250)
(7)

16,367
(23)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities

(559,257)

16,344

Notes
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Bank interest income
Finance costs
Depreciation
Gain on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment
Gain arising from redemption of convertible notes
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale equity investments
Impairment of an available-for-sale equity investment
Fair value losses/(gains), net:
Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss
Conversion option derivative
Equity-settled share option arrangements

Increase in convertible notes-loan portion
Decrease/(increase) in equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss
Decrease/(increase) in inventories
Increase in trade and bills receivables
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables
Increase in trade and bills payables
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals
Exchange realignment

28
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2007
HK$’000

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

2008
HK$’000

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
Year ended 31 March 2008

2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

252,479

–

5
–
(142)
(32,638)
6,297

–
13,500
(240)
(73,562)
1,382

226,001

(58,920)

332,099
4,591
196,000
(3,545)
(69)

73,658
–
–
(1,105)
(78)

Net cash inflow from financing activities

529,076

72,475

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

195,820
55,421
45

29,899
25,511
11

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

251,286

55,421

21

11,438

5,034

21

232,574

43,391

21

7,274

6,996

251,286

55,421

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Notes
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CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale
equity investments
Proceeds from disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment
Proceeds from redemption of convertible notes
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment
Purchases of available-for-sale equity investments
Interest received
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares
Proceeds from exercise of share options
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds, net
Share issue expenses
Capital element of finance lease rental payments

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances
Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity of
less than three months when acquired
Time deposits with original maturity of less than
three months when acquired, pledged as a security
for bank overdraft facilities

26
26
24
26

Balance Sheet
31 March 2008

–
–

–
–

–

–

565,546
49
41,544

297,845
67
20,673

607,139

318,585

1,180
7,498

1,411
44,724

8,678

46,135

NET CURRENT ASSETS

598,461

272,450

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

598,461

272,450

154,315

–

Total non-current liabilities

154,315

–

Net assets

444,146

272,450

28,247
47,257
368,642

13,599
–
258,851

444,146

272,450

Notes
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Investment in a subsidiary

13
15

Total non-current assets
CURRENT ASSETS
Due from subsidiaries
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

15
21

Total current assets
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accruals
Due to subsidiaries

15

Total current liabilities

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Convertible bonds

EQUITY
Issued capital
Equity component of convertible bonds
Reserves
Total equity

Wong Howard
Director

24

26
24
27(b)

Wong Yat Fai
Director
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2007
HK$’000

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

2008
HK$’000

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 March 2008

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

GR Vietnam Holdings Limited (the “Company”) (formerly known as 139 Holdings Limited)
is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The principal place of business of
the Company is located at Rooms 1603-5, 16/F., Harcourt House, 39 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.
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Pursuant to a special resolution passed by the Company’s shareholders on 19 November
2007 and the approval of the Registrar of Companies in Bermuda and Hong Kong, the
name of the Company was changed from 139 Holdings Limited to GR Vietnam Holdings
Limited with effect from 7 December 2007.
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the
subsidiaries consisted of the trading and distribution of electronic products and other
merchandise and securities investment and trading.
On 1 November 2006, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement (the
“Agreement”) with JB International, a holding company of Century Time Investments Limited
(“Century Time”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Century Time
Group”), principally engaged in methanol production and coal mining and owns a production
plant under construction at Inner Mongolia in Mainland China, for the acquisition of (i) 25%
equity interest in the Century Time Group and its shareholder’s loan (the “Acquisition”); and
(ii) a call option to purchase additional up to 50% equity interest in the Century Time Group
and its shareholder’s loan at a consideration of HK$150 million. On 12 April 2007, the
Company announced that one of the conditions precedent to the Acquisition has not been
fulfilled and the Agreement ceased with immediate effect. Since no deposit or any sort of
payment has been made to the Century Time Group by the Group under the Agreement,
the directors considered that the cessation of the Agreement had no material adverse
financial impact on the Group’s business operations.

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 March 2008

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

Apart from the above, there were no other significant development and changes in the
nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.
Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the Group also entered into certain agreements in
relation to the investment projects in Vietnam. Details of which are set out in note 36 to the
financial statements.
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On 13 November 2007, the Group entered into the joint venture agreement (the “JV
Agreement”) with Food Company of Ho Chi Minh City (“Food Company”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Vietnam Southern Food Corporation (a Vietnam stated-owned enterprise)
(“VSFC”), pursuant to which, both parties agreed to establish a joint venture company (the
“JV Company”) for the future operation of convenience retail stores in Vietnam on or before
12 May 2008. In accordance with the JV Agreement, the total equity interest in the JV
Company will be held as to 49% by the Group and 51% by Food Company, respectively
and the total invested capital of the JV Company would amount to US$22,000,000
(equivalent to HK$171,600,000). Details of the JV Agreement were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 14 November 2007, Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the
Group and Food Company entered into a supplemental agreement dated 28 April 2008
(the “Supplemental Agreement”), pursuant to which, the total invested capital of the JV
Company was revised to US$17,500,000 (equivalent to HK$136,500,000). Pursuant to
the Supplemental Agreement, the Group will be required to contribute US$8,575,000
(equivalent to HK$66,885,000) in the form of legal capital and shareholders’ loans to the JV
Company upon completion of the formation of the JV Company, based on the Group’s 49%
interest therein. Subsequent to the balance sheet date on 2 May 2008, the Group entered
into a second supplemental agreement with Food Company for the extension of the date
for the formation of the JV Company from 12 May 2008 to 2 August 2008. As at the date of
this report, the JV Company has not been established and is subject to the approval by the
relevant Vietnam authorities.

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

On 2 October 2007, the Group entered into a referral agreement with Golden Resources
Development International Limited, a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), to explore business opportunities in Vietnam. Details of the
above referral agreement were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 8 October
2007.

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 March 2008

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

2.1. BASIS OF PREPARATION
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These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for equity
investments and a conversion option derivative, which have been measured at fair value.
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2008.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on
which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases. All significant intercompany transactions and balances within the Group are
eliminated on consolidation.

2.2. IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for the first time for
the current year’s financial statements. Except for in certain cases, giving rise to new
and revised accounting policies and additional disclosures, the adoption of these new
and revised standards and interpretations has had no material effect on these financial
statements.
HKFRS 7
HKAS 1 Amendment
HK(IFRIC)-Int 8
HK(IFRIC)-Int 9
HK(IFRIC)-Int 10
HK(IFRIC)-Int 11

Financial Instruments: Disclosures
Capital Disclosures
Scope of HKFRS 2
Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment
HKFRS 2-Group and Treasury Share Transactions

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 March 2008

2.2. IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)
The principal effects of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs are as follows:
(a) HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

(b) Amendment to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements-Capital
Disclosures

(c) HK(IFRIC)-Int 8 Scope of HKFRS 2
This interpretation requires HKFRS 2 to be applied to any arrangement in which the
Group cannot identify specifically some or all of the goods or services received, for
which equity instruments are granted or liabilities (based on a value of the Group’s
equity instruments) are incurred by the Group for a consideration, and which appears
to be less than the fair value of the equity instruments granted or liabilities incurred.
As the Company has only issued equity instruments to the Group’s employees for
identified services provided in accordance with the Company’s share option scheme,
the interpretation has had no effect on these financial statements.

47
2007-2008 ANNUAL REPORT

This amendment requires the Group to make disclosures that enable users of the
financial statements to evaluate the Group’s objectives, policies and processes
for managing capital. These new disclosures are shown in note 35 to the financial
statements.

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

This standard requires disclosures that enable users of the financial statements to
evaluate the significance of the Group’s financial instruments and the nature and extent
of risks arising from those financial instruments. The new disclosures are included
throughout the financial statements. While there has been no effect on the financial
position or results of operations of the Group, comparative information has been
included/revised where appropriate.

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 March 2008

2.2. IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

(d) HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
This interpretation requires that the date to assess whether an embedded derivative is
required to be separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative is
the date that the Group first becomes a party to the contract, with reassessment only
if there is a change to the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows. As the
Group’s existing policy of accounting for derivatives complies with the requirements of
the interpretation, the interpretation has had no effect on these financial statements.
(e) HK(IFRIC)-Int 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment
The Group has adopted this interpretation as of 1 April 2007, which requires that an
impairment loss recognised in a previous interim period in respect of goodwill or an
investment in either an equity instrument classified as available-for-sale or a financial
asset carried at cost is not subsequently reversed. As the Group had no impairment
losses previously reversed in respect of such assets, the interpretation has had no
impact on the financial position or results of operations of the Group.
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(f)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 HKFRS 2-Group and Treasury Share Transactions
This interpretation requires arrangements whereby an employee is granted rights to the
Group’s equity instruments, to be accounted for as an equity-settled scheme, even if
the Group acquires the instruments from another party, or the shareholders provide the
equity instruments needed. This interpretation also addresses the accounting for sharebased payment transactions involving two or more entities within the Group. As the
Group’s existing policy of accounting for share-based payment transactions complies
with the requirements of the interpretation, the interpretation has had no effect on these
financial statements.

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 March 2008

2.3. IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued
but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.

HKFRS 3 (Revised)
HKFRS 8
HKAS 1 (Revised)
HKAS 23 (Revised)
HKAS 27 (Revised)
HKAS 32 and HKAS 1
Amendments
HK(IFRIC)-Int 12
HK(IFRIC)-Int 13
HK(IFRIC)-Int 14

2
3
4

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact of these new and
revised HKFRSs upon initial application. So far, it has concluded that while the adoption
of HKAS 1 (Revised) and HKFRS 8 may result in new or amended disclosures, these new
and revised HKFRSs are unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group’s results of
operations and financial position.
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1

Share-based Payment-Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations 1
Business Combinations 2
Operating Segments 1
Presentation of Financial Statements 1
Borrowing Costs 1
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 2
Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations
Arising on Liquidation 1
Service Concession Arrangements 4
Customer Loyalty Programmes 3
HKAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,
Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction 4

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

HKFRS 2 Amendment

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 March 2008

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Subsidiaries

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies the Company controls,
directly or indirectly, so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
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The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income statement to the extent of
dividends received and receivable. The Company’s investment in a subsidiary is stated at
cost less any impairment losses.
Joint ventures
A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual arrangement, whereby the Group and other
parties undertake an economic activity. The joint venture operates as a separate entity in
which the Group and the other parties have an interest.
The joint venture agreement between the venturers stipulates the capital contributions of
the joint venture parties, the duration of the joint venture entity and the basis on which the
assets are to be realised upon its dissolution. The profits and losses from the joint venture’s
operations and any distributions of surplus assets are shared by the venturers, either in
proportion to their respective capital contributions, or in accordance with the terms of the
joint venture agreement.
A joint venture is treated as:
(a)

a subsidiary, if the Group has unilateral control, directly or indirectly, over the joint
venture;

(b)

a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not have unilateral control, but has joint
control, directly or indirectly, over the joint venture;

(c)

an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral or joint control, but holds, directly or
indirectly, generally not less than 20% of the joint venture’s registered capital and is in a
position to exercise significant influence over the joint venture; or

(d)

an equity investment accounted for in accordance with HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement, if the Group holds, directly or indirectly, less than
20% of the joint venture’s registered capital and has neither joint control of, nor is in a
position to exercise significant influence over, the joint venture.

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 March 2008

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to the income statement in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(a)

the party, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, (i) controls, is
controlled by, or is under common control with, the Group; (ii) has an interest in the
Group that gives it significant influence over the Group; or (iii) has joint control over the
Group;

(b)

the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Group;
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An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation)
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset
is required (other than inventories and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 March 2008

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Related parties (continued)
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(c)

the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (a) or (b);

(d)

the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by or
for which significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any
individual referred to in (b) or (c); or

(e)

the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the employees of the
Group, or of any entity that is a related party of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of property,
plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the income statement in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the
future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant
and equipment, and where the cost of the item can be measured reliably, the expenditure is
capitalised as an additional cost of that asset or as a replacement.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of
property, plant and equipment to its residual value over the following estimated useful life.
Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Plant and machinery
Motor vehicles, furniture, fixtures
and equipment

50 years or over the lease terms,
whichever is shorter
Over the remaining lease terms or 3 years,
whichever is shorter
7 to 10 years
3 to 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost
of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

Leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the
lessor are accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable
under the operating leases are charged to the income statement on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms.
Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated at cost and
subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Investments and other financial assets
Financial assets in the scope of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, and available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at
fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.
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Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the
Group, other than legal title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a
finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present value of the minimum
lease payments and recorded together with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to
reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance leases are included
in property, plant and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and
the estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such leases are charged to the
income statement so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the income statement in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
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The Group assesses whether a contract contains an embedded derivative when the Group
first becomes a party to it and assesses whether an embedded derivative is required to be
separated from the host contract when the analysis shows that the economic characteristics
and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to those of the host contract.
Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly
modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required under the contract.
The Group determines the classification of its financial assets after initial recognition and,
where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at the balance sheet date.
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale
in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified
as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or
losses on investments held for trading are recognised in the income statement. The net
fair value gain or loss recognised in the income statement does not include any dividends
on these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such assets are subsequently carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate and transaction costs.
Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the loans and receivables
are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 March 2008

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets in listed equity
securities that are designated as available for sale or are not classified in any of the other
two categories. After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured
at fair value, with gains or losses recognised as a separate component of equity until the
investment is derecognised or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which
time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is included in the income
statement. Interest and dividends earned are reported as interest income and dividend
income, respectively and are recognised in the income statement as “Revenue-Treasury
investment” in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below. Losses
arising from the impairment of such investments are recognised in the income statement
as “Impairment of an available-for-sale equity investment” and are transferred from the
available-for-sale equity investment revaluation reserve.
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The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets
is determined by reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of business at
the balance sheet date. For investments where there is no active market, fair value is
determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s length
market transactions; reference to the current market value of another instrument which is
substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and option pricing models.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets
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The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence
that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.
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Assets carried at amortised cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at
amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance
account. The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the income statement. Loans
and receivables together with any associated allowance are written off when the Group first
assesses there is no realistic prospect of future recovery.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance amount. Any
subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement, to the
extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal
date.
In relation to trade and other receivables, an impairment allowance is made when there is
objective evidence (such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties
of the debtor and significant changes in the technological, market economic or legal
environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor) that the Group will not be able to
collect all of the amounts due under the original terms of an invoice. The carrying amount
of the receivables is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Impaired debts are
derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectible.

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 March 2008

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets
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If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between
its cost (net of any principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any
impairment loss previously recognised in the income statement, is transferred from equity
to the income statement. An impairment allowance is made for available-for-sale equity
investments when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below
its cost or where other objective evidence of impairment exists. The determination of what
is “significant” or ‘’prolonged” requires judgement. In addition, the Group evaluates other
factors, such as the share price volatility. Impairment losses on equity instruments classified
as available for sale are not reversed through the income statement.
Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is derecognised where:
the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

•

the Group retains the rights to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed
an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “passthrough” arrangement; or

•

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a)
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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•
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

2007-2008 ANNUAL REPORT

58

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be
required to repay.
Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchased option
(including a cash-settled option or similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of
the Group’s continuing involvement is the amount of the transferred asset that the Group
may repurchase, except in the case of a written put option (including a cash-settled option
or similar provision) on an asset measured at fair value, where the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and
the option exercise price.
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities including trade and bills payables, other payables and finance lease
payables are initially stated at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. The related
interest expense is recognised within “finance costs” in the income statement.
Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Convertible bonds

Derecognition of financial liabilities
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The component of convertible bonds that exhibits characteristics of a liability is recognised
as a liability in the balance sheet, net of transaction costs. On issuance of convertible bonds,
the fair value of the liability component is determined using a market rate for an equivalent
non-convertible bond and this amount is carried as a long term liability on the amortised
cost basis until extinguished on conversion or redemption. The remainder of the proceeds
is allocated to the conversion option that is recognised and included in shareholders’ equity,
net of transaction costs. The carrying amount of the conversion option is not remeasured
in subsequent years. Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity
components of the convertible bonds based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability and
equity components when the instruments are first recognised.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires.
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When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified,
such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a
recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the income statement.
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Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on
the first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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Cash and cash equivalents
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For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents
comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.
For the purpose of the balance sheets, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.
Income tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income
statement, or in equity if it relates to items that are recognised in the same or a different
period directly in equity.
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the tax authorities.
Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the
balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:
•

where the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

•

where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises
from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

•

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply
to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists
to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the
same taxable entity and the same tax authority.
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Conversely, previously
unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
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Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and when the revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:
(a)

from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have
been transferred to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over
the goods sold;

(b)

the profit or loss on the trading of equity investments at fair value through profit or loss
on the transaction dates when the relevant contract notes are executed;

(c)

interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset; and

(d)

dividend income, when the shareholder’s right to receive payment has been
established.
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Share-based payment transactions
The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Employees (including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of sharebased payment transactions, whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the
fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using a binomial model. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of
any performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares of the
Company (“market conditions”), if applicable.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payment transactions (continued)

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where
vesting is conditional upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
conditions are satisfied.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of
cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated
as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.
The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the
computation of earnings per share.
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Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is
recognised as if the terms had not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification, which increases the total fair value of the share-based payment
arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.
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The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled
to the award (the “vesting date”). The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at each balance sheet date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which
the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the income statement for a
period represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning
and end of that period.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Other employee benefits
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Retirement benefits schemes
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The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
all of its employees. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the income statement as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except
for the Group’s employer voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the
employee leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme.
Pursuant to the relevant regulations of Mainland China, subsidiaries of the Company
operating in Mainland China participate in a local municipal government retirement benefits
scheme (the “Mainland Scheme”) whereby the subsidiaries are required to contribute a
percentage of the basic salaries of their employees to the Mainland Scheme to fund their
retirement benefits obligations of all existing and future retired employees of the subsidiaries.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the Mainland Scheme is to pay the ongoing
required contributions under the Mainland Scheme mentioned above. Contributions under
the Mainland Scheme are charged to the income statement as incurred. There are no
provisions under the Mainland Scheme whereby forfeited contributions may be used to
reduce future contributions.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.
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The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than the
Hong Kong dollar. As at the balance sheet date, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into the presentation currency of the Company at the exchange rates ruling at
the balance sheet date and, their income statements are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences
are included in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of an overseas subsidiary, the
deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation
is recognised in the income statement.
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These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using
that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded using the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All differences are taken to
the income statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
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The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the reporting
date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or
liabilities affected in the future.
Judgement
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the
following judgement, which has the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:
Income tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the
balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses carried forward to the extent that
it is probable (i.e., more likely than not) that future taxable profits will be available against
which the unused tax losses can be utilised, based on all available evidence. Recognition
primarily involves judgement regarding the future performance of the particular legal entity
or tax group in which the deferred tax asset has been recognised. A variety of other factors
are also evaluated in considering whether there is convincing evidence that it is probable
that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will ultimately be realised, such as the
existence of taxable temporary differences, tax planning strategies and the periods in which
estimated tax losses can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets and related
financial models and budgets are reviewed at each balance sheet date and to the extent
that there is insufficient convincing evidence that sufficient taxable profits will be available
within the utilisation periods to allow utilisation of the carried forward tax losses, the asset
balance will be reduced and charged to the income statement.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(continued)
Judgement (continued)
Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

Estimation uncertainty

Valuation of convertible notes
As described in note 16 to the financial statements, the convertible notes include an
embedded derivative that is measured at fair value through profit or loss. The fair value of
the embedded derivative of the convertible notes is determined by the directors using the
binomial option pricing model. The significant inputs into the model were share price at
year end date, risk-free interest rate, exercise price, expected volatility of the underlying
shares and term of maturity. When the actual results of the inputs differ from management’s
estimate, it will have an impact on the fair value gain or loss and the fair value of the
derivative component of the convertible notes.
As at 31 March 2008, the fair value of the embedded financial derivative was approximately
HK$1,588,000 (2007: HK$2,520,000).
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The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

The Group classifies certain assets as available-for-sale and recognises movements of
their fair values in equity. An impairment allowance is made for available-for-sale equity
investments when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below
its cost or where other objective evidence of impairment exists. The determination of what
is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgement by management who also evaluates other
relevant factors, such as the share price volatility of the underlying equity investments. At
31 March 2008, an impairment loss of HK$3,794,000 has been recognised as a charge to
the income statement for the Group’s available-for-sale equity investments (2007: Nil). The
carrying amount of the Group’s available-for-sale equity investments was HK$27,768,000
(2007: HK$212,669,000) as at 31 March 2008.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)
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Valuation of share options
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As described in note 28 to the financial statements, the Company has engaged an
independent firm of professionally qualified valuers to assist in the valuation of the share
options granted during the year. The fair value of options granted under the share option
schemes is determined using the binomial option pricing model. The significant inputs
into the model were share price at grant date, risk-free interest rate, exercise price and
expected volatility of the underlying shares. When the actual result of the inputs differ from
management’s estimate, it will have an impact on share option expenses and the related
share option reserve of the Company. As at 31 March 2008, the fair value of the share
options granted by the Company was HK$15,232,000, of which a share option expense of
HK$15,232,000 (2007: Nil) was recognised during the year ended 31 March 2008.

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION
Segment information is presented by way of two segment formats: (i) on a primary segment
reporting basis, by business segment; and (ii) on a secondary segment reporting basis, by
geographical segment.
The Group’s operating businesses are structured and managed separately according to the
nature of their operations and the products and services they provide. Each of the Group’s
business segments represents a strategic business unit that offers products and services
which are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of the other business
segments. Summary details of the business segments are as follows:
(a)

the electronic products segment trades electronic products;

(b)

the treasury investment segment comprises securities investment and trading; and

(c)

the corporate and others segment comprises corporate income and expenses items.

In determining the Group’s geographical segments, revenues are attributed to the segments
based on the location of the customers, and assets are attributed to the segments based on
the location of the assets.
There are no intersegment sales and transfers between the business segments.
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(a) Business segments

Group

Electronic products
2008
2007
HK$’000
HK$’000

Treasury investment
2008
2007
HK$’000
HK$’000

Corporate and others
2008
2007
HK$’000
HK$’000

Consolidated
2008
2007
HK$’000
HK$’000

114,758
–

67,401
–

–
(87,495)

–
(45,503)

–
–

–
–

114,758
(87,495)

67,401
(45,503)

Total

114,758

67,401

(87,495)

(45,503)

–

–

27,263

21,898

(423)

(2,576)

(213,787)

(31,224)

(22,390)

(5,703)

(236,600)

(39,503)

6,315
(2,476)
(5,579)

1,397
( 671)
( 23)

Loss before tax
Tax

(238,340)
15,428

(38,800)
–

Loss for the year

(222,912)

(38,800)

496,214
178,058

416,150
27,090

674,272

443,240

23,783
154,667

29,212
9,395

178,450

38,607

224
–

195
3

224

198

Segment results
Interest income and unallocated gains
Unallocated expenses
Finance costs

Assets and liabilities
Segment assets
Unallocated assets

34,243

19,780

396,843

374,916

65,128

21,454

Total assets
Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

22,027

10,965

120

16,517

1,636

1,730

Total liabilities
Other segment information:
Depreciation
Unallocated depreciation

Capital expenditure
Impairment of an available-forsale equity investment
Equity-settled share option
arrangements
Fair value losses/(gains) on equity
investments at fair value through
profit or loss

6

3

–

–

218

192

12

20

–

–

130

220

142

240

–

–

3,794

–

–

–

3,794

–

88

–

–

–

15,144

–

15,232

–

–

–

222,592

(23,775)

–

–

222,592

(23,775)
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Segment revenue:
Sales to external customers
Losses from treasury investment

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

The following tables present revenue, loss and certain asset, liability and capital
expenditure information for the Group’s business segments for the years ended 31
March 2008 and 2007.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

(b) Geographical segments
The following table presents revenue and certain asset and capital expenditure
information for the Group’s geographical segments for the years ended 31 March 2008
and 2007.
People’s
United States of
Republic of China
America and
(including Hong Kong)
Europe
Consolidated
2008
2007
2008
2007
2008
2007
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Segment revenue:
Electronic products
Treasury investment
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Other segment information:
Segment assets

Capital expenditure

72,312
(87,495)

59,787
(45,503)

42,446
–

7,614
–

114,758
(87,495)

67,401
(45,503)

(15,183)

14,284

42,446

7,614

27,263

21,898

674,272

443,240

–

–

674,272

443,240

142

240

–

–

142

240

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 March 2008

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the aggregate of the net invoiced
value of goods sold, after allowances for returns and trade discounts, and losses on
disposal of equity investments at fair value through profit or loss, dividend income arising
from equity investments and interest income from convertible notes during the year.

Revenue
Sale of goods
Losses on disposal of equity investments at
fair value through profit or loss
Dividend income from equity investments
Interest income from convertible notes

2007
HK$’000

114,758

67,401

(96,685)
4,501
4,689

(53,455)
4,171
3,781

27,263

21,898

6,297
3
500

1,382
–
574

6,800

1,956

6. FINANCE COSTS
Group

Interest on bank overdrafts wholly repayable within five years
Interest on finance lease
Imputed interest on convertible bonds (note 24)

2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

5
2
5,572

15
8
–

5,579

23
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Other income and gains
Bank interest income
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment
Others

2008
HK$’000

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:
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7. LOSS BEFORE TAX

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging:
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Cost of inventories sold
Depreciation (note 13)
Employee benefit expenses
(including directors’ remuneration (note 8)):
Wages and salaries
Equity-settled share option arrangements
Retirement benefits scheme contributions*

Minimum lease payments under operating leases
in respect of land and buildings
Auditors’ remuneration
Current year
Underprovision in prior year

Foreign exchange differences, net
*

2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

111,588
224

66,782
198

9,801
15,232
382

8,990
–
318

25,415

9,308

1,766

1,514

1,000
115

850
–

1,115

850

50

38

At 31 March 2008, the Group had no forfeited contributions available to reduce its contributions
to the retirement benefits scheme in future years (2007: Nil).
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange and Section 161 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Fees
Other emoluments of executive directors:
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Equity-settled share option arrangements
Pension scheme contributions

2007
HK$’000

400

400

3,653
8,643
154

3,272
–
133

12,450

3,405

12,850

3,805

(a) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the year were as follows:

Mr. Li Chi Ming
Mr. Tung Tat Chiu, Michael
Mr. Wan Ngar Yin, David

2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

150
150
100

150
150
100

400

400

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive directors
during the year (2007: Nil).
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During the year, certain directors were granted share options, in respect of their services to
the Group, under the share option scheme of the Company, further details of which are set
out in note 28 to the financial statements. The fair value of such options was determined as
at the date of grant and the amount recognised in the income statement for the current year
is included in the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Group
2008
HK$’000

Notes to the Financial Statements
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

(b) Executive directors
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Salaries,
Equityallowances settled share
Pension
and benefits
option
scheme
Total
Fees
in kind arrangements contributions remuneration
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
2008
Mr. Wong Howard
Mr. Wong Yat Fai
Mr. Wu Qing
Mr. Lam Sai Ho, Anthony

–
–
–
–

1,826
1,110
500
217

2,881
2,881
2,881
–

63
55
25
11

4,770
4,046
3,406
228

–

3,653

8,643

154

12,450

–
–
–

1,647
975
650

–
–
–

52
49
32

1,699
1,024
682

–

3,272

–

133

3,405

2007
Mr. Wong Howard
Mr. Wong Yat Fai
Mr. Wu Qing

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year (2007: Nil).
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2007: three) directors,
details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the
remaining two (2007: two) non-director, highest paid employees for the year are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Equity-settled share option arrangements
Pension scheme contributions

2007
HK$’000

1,160
2,845
58

1,074
–
54

4,063

1,128

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the
following band is as follows:
Number of employees
2008
2007
Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000

–
1
1

2
–
–
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During the year, share options were granted to two non-director, highest paid employees
in respect of their services to the Group, under the share option scheme of the Company,
further details of which are set out in note 28 to the financial statements. The fair value of
such options was determined as at the date of grant and the amount recognised in the
income statement for the current year is included in the above non-director, five highest paid
employees’ remuneration disclosures.

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Group
2008
HK$’000

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 March 2008

10. TAX

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group had no assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year (2007: Nil). No provision for Mainland China
corporate income tax has been made as the Group did not generate any assessable profits
in Mainland China during the year (2007: Nil).
A reconciliation of the tax applicable to loss before tax using the statutory rates for the
jurisdictions in which the Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax at the
effective tax rates, are as follows:
Group-2008

Hong Kong
HK$’000

Mainland
China
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

(236,947)

(1,393)

(238,340)

Tax at the applicable tax rates
Lower tax rate for specific provinces
or local authority
Income not subject to tax
Expenses not deductible for tax
Tax losses for the year not recognised
Reversal of taxable temporary differences
Others

(41,466)

(460)

(41,926)

–
(1,842)
5,307
41,855
(21,982)
2,700

112
–
–
348
–
–

112
(1,842)
5,307
42,203
(21,982)
2,700

Tax credit

(15,428)

–

(15,428)

Loss before tax

2007-2008 ANNUAL REPORT

76

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 March 2008

10. TAX (continued)
Group-2007

Tax at the applicable tax rates
Lower tax rate for specific provinces
or local authority
Income not subject to tax
Expenses not deductible for tax
Tax losses for the year not recognised
Tax charge/(credit)

Total
HK$’000

(37,122)

(1,678)

(38,800)

(6,496)

(554)

(7,050)

–
(958)
621
6,833

123
–
–
431

123
(958)
621
7,264

–

–

–

The consolidated loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2008 includes a loss of HK$223,938,000 (2007: HK$40,209,000) which
has been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company (note 27(b)).

12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE COMPANY
The calculation of basic loss per share amounts is based on the loss for the year attributable
to ordinary equity holders of the Company of HK$222,912,000 (2007: HK$38,800,000), and
the weighted average number of 2,022,585,853 (2007: 1,226,382,773) ordinary shares in
issue during the year.
A diluted loss per share amount for the year ended 31 March 2008 has not been disclosed,
as the share options and the convertible bonds outstanding during the year had an antidilutive effect on the basic loss per share for this year. A diluted loss per share amount for
the year ended 31 March 2007 has not been disclosed as no diluting events existed during
that year.
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11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Loss before tax

Hong Kong
HK$’000

Mainland
China
HK$’000
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Group
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Motor
vehicles,
furniture,
Plant and fixtures and
machinery equipment
HK$’000
HK$’000

Buildings
HK$’000

Leasehold
improvements
HK$’000

13,238
–

427
185

13,826
–

5,250
55

32,741
240

At 31 March 2007 and
1 April 2007
Additions
Disposal

13,238
–
–

612
–
–

13,826
–
–

5,305
142
(37)

32,981
142
(37)

At 31 March 2008

13,238

612

13,826

5,410

33,086

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment:
At 1 April 2006
Provided during the year

13,238
–

427
77

13,826
–

4,847
121

32,338
198

At 31 March 2007 and
1 April 2007
Provided during the year
Disposal

13,238
–
–

504
92
–

13,826
–
–

4,968
132
(35)

32,536
224
(35)

At 31 March 2008

13,238

596

13,826

5,065

32,725

Net carrying amount:
At 31 March 2008

–

16

–

345

361

At 31 March 2007

–

108

–

337

445

Cost:
At 1 April 2006
Additions

Total
HK$’000

Notes to the Financial Statements
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
All the Group’s buildings included above are stated at cost and are held under medium term
leases outside Hong Kong.

Company

Cost:
At 1 April 2006, 31 March 2007,
1 April 2007 and 31 March 2008

Furniture,
fixtures and
equipment
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

299

415

714

79
299

415

714

Net carrying amount:
At 31 March 2008

–

–

–

At 31 March 2007

–

–

–

2007-2008 ANNUAL REPORT

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 April 2006, 31 March 2007,
1 April 2007 and 31 March 2008

Leasehold
improvements
HK$’000

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

The net carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment held under finance
leases included in the total amount of motor vehicles, furniture, fixtures and equipment at 31
March 2008 was HK$138,000 (2007: HK$201,000).
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14. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENT

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Group
HK$’000
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Cost:
At 1 April 2006, 31 March 2007, 1 April 2007
and 31 March 2008

821

Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 April 2006, 31 March 2007, 1 April 2007
and 31 March 2008

821

Net carrying amount:
At 31 March 2008

–

At 31 March 2007

–

The Group is required to pay an annual fee with an increment of 15% for every ten years
in respect of certain land in Mainland China used by the Group for its electronic products
business up to 2011 commencing from 1993. The annual fee paid by the Group during the
year which had been charged to the income statement for the year, was HK$83,000 (2007:
HK$83,000). The Group’s legal counsel confirmed that the Group properly owns the legal
right to use the land for the period granted.
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15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Company
2008
2007
HK$’000
HK$’000
Unlisted shares, at cost

–

1,110,885
(545,339)

643,189
(345,344)

565,546

297,845

The amounts due from and to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed
terms of repayment except for the amount due from Main Purpose Investments Limited,
which is interest-free for the year ended 31 March 2008 (2007: bore interest at the Hong
Kong dollar prime rate less 3% per annum). The carrying amounts of the amounts due from/
to subsidiaries approximate to their fair values.
#

Impairment losses were recognised during the years ended 31 March 2008 and 2007 due to
sustained loss making conditions of these subsidiaries.

Company
2008
2007
HK$’000
HK$’000
At 1 April
Impairment loss recognised

345,344
199,995

300,037
45,307

At 31 March

545,339

345,344
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Movements in the impairment allowance of amounts due from subsidiaries are as follows:

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Due from subsidiaries
Less: Impairment #

–

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 March 2008

15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries during the year are as follows:
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Name

Place of
incorporation
and operations

Nominal
value of
issued
ordinary
share capital

Percentage
of equity
attributable
to the Company
Direct Indirect

Principal
activities

Hoshing Limited*

British Virgin
Islands

US$1

100

–

Investment
holding

Sino Electronics Limited*

British Virgin
Islands/
Hong Kong

US$2

–

100

Investment
holding

Chongqing Electronics
Limited

Hong Kong

HK$2

–

100

Trading of
electronic
products

139 Enterprises
Limited

Hong Kong

US$2

–

100

Provision of
administrative
services

Chaifa Finance Limited

Hong Kong

HK$2

–

100

Provision of
finance
services

Main Purpose
Investments Limited

British Virgin
Islands/
Hong Kong

US$1

–

100

Investment in
and trading of
securities

GR Vietnam
International Limited#

British Virgin
Islands/
Hong Kong

US$1

–

100

Investment
holding

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 March 2008

15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors,
principally affected the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.
Not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other member firm of Ernst & Young global
network.

#

The subsidiary was newly incorporated during the year ended 31 March 2008.

16. CONVERTIBLE NOTES
Group

Unlisted convertible notes:
Loan portion

2007
HK$’000

43,285

39,842

1,588

2,520

44,873

42,362

During the year ended 31 March 2007, the Group’s equity investments at fair value through
profit or loss with a carrying amount of HK$33,176,000 were exchanged for cash amounting
to HK$7,960,000 and convertible notes with a face value of HK$62,100,000 of Hanny
Holdings Limited (the “Hanny Convertible Notes”), a company listed on the Stock Exchange
and an independent party of the Group. The Hanny Convertible Notes bear interest at
the rate of 2% per annum, payable on maturity, are unsecured and mature on 20 June
2011. The conversion price of the Hanny Convertible Notes was HK$9 per share as at 31
March 2007 and was adjusted to HK$0.67 per share as a result of the bonus issue during
the year ended 31 March 2008. On maturity, the Group is entitled to a full repayment
of the outstanding principal amount of the Hanny Convertible Notes at a face value of
HK$62,100,000, together with the interest accrued.
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Conversion option derivative

2008
HK$’000

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

*

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 March 2008

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

16. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued)
As at 31 March 2008, the Hanny Convertible Notes is neither past due nor impaired. The
directors of the Company are of the opinion that no impairment allowance is necessary in
respect of the balance as there has not been a significant change in its credit quality and the
balance is still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over the Hanny Convertible Notes.
The fair value of the conversion option derivative related to the Hanny Convertible Notes is
determined by the directors using the binomial option pricing model.
The fair value of the loan portion of the Hanny Convertible Notes at 31 March 2008
approximated to the corresponding carrying amount and its effective interest rate was
11.73%.

17. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE EQUITY INVESTMENTS
Group
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Listed equity investments, at fair value:
Hong Kong
Elsewhere

2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

396
27,372

185,186
27,483

27,768

212,669

The above investments consist of investments in equity securities which were designated as
available-for-sale financial assets and have no fixed maturity date or coupon rate. The fair
values of listed equity investments are based on quoted market prices.
The market value of the Group’s available-for-sale equity investments at the date of approval
of these financial statements was approximately HK$27,076,000.
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17. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE EQUITY INVESTMENTS (continued)
At 31 March 2008, the Group did not hold any available-for-sale equity investments with
carrying amounts exceeded 10% of the total assets of the Group. At 31 March 2007, the
carrying amount of the Group’s shareholding in the following companies exceeded 10% of
the total assets of the Group.
Percentage
of capital
held

Principal
activities

C C Land Holdings Limited
(Formerly known as
Qualipak International
Holdings Limited)

Bermuda

Ordinary shares
of HK$0.1 each

1.5

Manufacture and
sale of watch boxes,
gift boxes and brief
cases

Y.T. Realty Group Limited

Bermuda

Ordinary shares
of HK$0.1 each

4.9

Property trading,
investment and
management
services

Group

Listed equity investments in Hong Kong, at fair value

2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

323,793

118,873

The above equity investments at 31 March 2008 and 2007 were classified as held for
trading. The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted market prices.
The market value of the Group’s equity investments at fair value through profit or loss at the
date of approval of these financial statements was approximately HK$309,923,000.
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18. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Name

Place of
incorporation

Particulars
of issued
share capital

Notes to the Financial Statements
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GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

18. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(continued)

Name

Place of
incorporation

Particulars Percentage
of issued
of capital
share capital
held

The Cross-Harbour
(Holdings) Limited

Hong Kong

Ordinary share
of HK$1 each

2.2

Yugang International
Limited

Bermuda

Ordinary share
of HK$0.1 each

1.9
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At 31 March 2008, the Group did not hold any equity investments at fair value through
profit or loss with carrying amounts exceeded 10% of the total assets of the Group. At 31
March 2007, the carrying amount of the Group’s shareholding in the following companies
exceeded 10% of the total assets of the Group.

Principal
activities
Operation of
motoring school,
tunnels and an
electronic toll
collection system

Trading of metal
commodities and
other materials;
treasury investment;
manufacture and
sale of watch-boxes,
gift boxes, spectacles
cases, bags and
display units,
property and other
investments

19. INVENTORIES
Group

Raw materials
Finished goods

2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

–
162

1,978
33

162

2,011
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20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
Group
2007
HK$’000

24,642
–

10,320
142

24,642

10,462

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, except for new
customers, where payment in advance is normally required. The credit period is generally
for a period of one month, extending up to two months for major customers. Each customer
has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are regularly reviewed by senior management. There is a
significant concentration of credit risk as over 97% (2007: 66%) of the balances represented
receivables from two major customers within the electronic products segment. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing. The carrying amounts of trade and bills receivables
approximate to their fair values.

Group

Within 1 month
1 to 2 months
2 to 3 months

2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

24,642
–
–

10,102
–
360

24,642

10,462
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An aged analysis of the Group’s trade and bills receivables as at the balance sheet date,
based on the invoice date, is as follows:

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Trade receivables
Bills receivables

2008
HK$’000

Notes to the Financial Statements
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20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)
The aged analysis of the Group’s trade and bills receivables, that are not considered to be
impaired is as follows:

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Group
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2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

24,642
–

10,102
360

24,642

10,462

Neither past due nor impaired
Less than 1 month past due

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to customers for whom there
was no recent history of default.
Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent
customers that have a good repayment record with the Group. Based on past experience,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no impairment allowance is necessary
in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and
the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over these balances.

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS
Group
2008
2007
HK$’000
HK$’000
Cash and bank balances
Time deposits

Less: Pledged time deposits
for bank overdraft
facilities (note 30)
Cash and cash equivalents

Company
2008
2007
HK$’000
HK$’000

11,438
239,848

5,034
50,387

592
40,952

107
20,566

251,286

55,421

41,544

20,673

(7,274)

(6,996)

–

–

244,012

48,425

41,544

20,673
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21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS
(continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Shortterm time deposits are made for varying periods from one day to one month depending on
the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective shortterm time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. The carrying amounts of the cash and
cash equivalents and the pledged deposits approximate to their fair values.

22. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

89

Group
2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

16,366
47

5,823
43

16,413

5,866

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and have a credit period of two months on
average. The carrying amounts of trade and bills payables approximate to their fair values.
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An aged analysis of the Group’s trade and bills payables as at the balance sheet date,
based on the invoice date, is as follows:

Within 1 to 2 months
Over 3 months

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

At the balance sheet date, cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi
(“RMB”) amounted to HK$242,000 (2007: HK$486,000). The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
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23. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

At 31 March 2007, the lease was classified as a finance lease and had a remaining lease
term of one year, which had expired in the current year. The total future minimum lease
payments under a finance lease and their present values were as follows:
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Group

Present value of Present value of
Minimum lease Minimum lease minimum lease minimum lease
payments
payments
payments
payments
2008
2007
2008
2007
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000

Amounts payable:
Within one year
In the second year

–
–

71
–

–
–

69
–

Total minimum finance
lease payments

–

71

–

69

Future finance charges

–

(2)

Total net finance lease payables

–

69

Portion classified as current
liabilities

–

(69)

Non-current portion

–

–

At 31 March 2007, the effective interest rate of the finance lease payables was 7.1% per
annum.
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24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

The Company may redeem the whole or part of the outstanding Convertible Bonds at the
redemption amount equal to 100% of the principal amount of the outstanding Convertible
Bonds to be redeemed and the redemption shall be made in amounts of not less than a
whole multiple of HK$200,000 by giving to the bondholders not less than seven business
days’ prior notice. On the maturity date, any Convertible Bonds not converted or redeemed
during the tenure will be redeemed by the Company at 100% of the principal amount.
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The fair value of the liability component of the Convertible Bonds was estimated at
the issuance date using an equivalent market interest rate for a similar bond without a
conversion option. The residual amount is assigned as the equity component and is
included in shareholders’ equity. The fair value of the liability component was estimated at
the issuance date and at 31 March 2008 by RHL Appraisal Limited (“RHL”), an independent
firm of professionally qualified valuers.

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

On 6 July 2007, the Company entered into a placing agreement (the “Placing Agreement”)
with Taifook Securities Company Limited, the placing agent, in relation to the issue of threeyear zero-coupon convertible bonds (the “Convertible Bonds”) with a principal amount of
HK$200,000,000. The completion of the Placing Agreement took place on 16 November
2007 and the Convertible Bonds were issued by the Company to the bondholders on
the same date. There was no movement in the number of Convertible Bonds during the
year. The Convertible Bonds are convertible at the option of the bondholders into ordinary
shares of the Company at any time following the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds
up to the maturity date on 15 November 2010, at a price of HK$0.25 per share, subject to
adjustments, as stated in the Placing Agreement.
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24. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

The Convertible Bonds have been separated into the liability and equity components on
the date of issuance and the movements of their carrying amounts during the year are as
follows:
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Group and Company
Liability
Equity
component component
Total
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
Upon issuance on 16 November 2007
Less: Direct transaction costs

151,779
(3,036)

48,221
(964)

200,000
(4,000)

Imputed interest expenses (note 6)

148,743
5,572

47,257
–

196,000
5,572

Carrying amount at 31 March 2008

154,315

47,257

201,572

The fair value of the liabilities component of the Convertible Bonds at 31 March 2008
approximated to the corresponding carrying amount.

25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
Net deferred tax liabilities as at 31 March 2008 comprise fair value gain on available-forsale equity investments amounted to HK$22,000 (2007: HK$15,867,000) and tax losses
amounted to HK$Nil (2007: HK$6,532,000). During the year ended 31 March 2008,
deferred tax liabilities in respect of fair value gain on available-for-sale equity investments of
HK$6,115,000 (2007: HK$2,864,000) and HK$21,982,000 (2007: Nil) was debited to equity
and credited to the income statement, respectively.
At 31 March 2008, there was no significant unrecognised deferred tax liability (2007:
Nil) for taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain of the Group’s
subsidiaries as the Group has no liability to additional tax should such amounts be remitted.
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25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (continued)

26. SHARE CAPITAL
Shares

Authorised:
60,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

2007
HK$’000

600,000

600,000

93
28,247

13,599
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Issued and fully paid:
2,824,643,047 (2007: 1,359,883,047)
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

2008
HK$’000

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$382,348,000 (2007:
HK$143,176,000) and in Mainland China of HK$7,665,000 (2007: HK$6,272,000) that are
available for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses
arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they have
arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.
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26. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

A summary of the transactions during the year in the Company’s issued share capital is as
follows:
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Number of
shares in issue

Issued
share
capital
HK$’000

Share
premium
account
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

1,133,243,047

11,332

310,000

321,332

226,640,000
–

2,267
–

71,391
(1,105)

73,658
(1,105)

1,359,883,047

13,599

380,286

393,885

(ii)
(iii)

771,900,000
680,000,000

7,719
6,800

154,380
163,200

162,099
170,000

(ii)
(iv)

1,451,900,000
–
12,860,000

14,519
–
129

317,580
(3,545)
6,734

332,099
(3,545)
6,863

2,824,643,047

28,247

701,055

729,302

Notes

At 1 April 2006
Issue of shares
Share issue expenses

(i)
(i)

At 31 March 2007
and 1 April 2007
Issue of shares:
Placements of shares
Subscription of shares

Share issue expenses
Exercise of share options
At 31 March 2008
Notes:
(i)

The Company entered into a placing agreement with Celestial Securities Limited, the placing
agent, on 17 October 2006, for the subscription of 226,640,000 new ordinary shares of the
Company of HK$0.01 each at a price of HK$0.325 per share. 226,640,000 shares of HK$0.01
each of the Company were issued and cash proceeds of HK$73,658,000, net of share issue
expenses of HK$1,105,000, were received by the Company. The proceeds were applied as the
general working capital of the Group.

(ii)

The Company entered into placing agreements with Taifook Securities Company Limited,
the placing agent, on 6 July 2007 and 12 October 2007, for the placing of 271,900,000 and
500,000,000 new ordinary shares of the Company, respectively, of HK$0.01 each at a price
of HK$0.21 per share. 771,900,000 shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company were issued
and cash proceeds of HK$162,099,000, net of share issue expenses of HK$3,545,000, were
received by the Company.
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26. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Notes: (continued)
The Company entered into a subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) with High
Super Enterprises Limited (the “Subscriber”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Golden Resources
Development International Limited, on 2 October 2007. Under the Subscription Agreement,
the Subscriber agreed to subscribe for 680,000,000 new ordinary shares of the Company (the
“Share Subscription”) at a price of HK$0.25 per share. The Share Subscription was completed
on 21 November 2007 and 680,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company were allotted
and cash proceeds of HK$170,000,000 were received by the Company.

(iv)

During the year ended 31 March 2008, the subscription rights attaching to 12,860,000 share
options were exercised at a subscription price of HK$0.357 per share, resulting in the issuance
of 12,860,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the Company for a total cash consideration
of HK$4,591,000. Upon the exercise of these share options, the balance of the share option
reserve of HK$2,272,000 relating to these share options was transferred to the share premium
account.

Share options
Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options issued under the
scheme are included in note 28 to the financial statements.

(a) Group
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and
prior years are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
The contributed surplus of the Group arose as a result of the Group reorganisation
upon listing of the Company’s shares in 1994, and represented the difference between
the nominal value of the shares of the former holding company of the Group prior to
the Group reorganisation, over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in
exchange thereof.
In addition, pursuant to special and ordinary resolutions passed at the special general
meeting held on 22 September 2000, the issued and fully paid share capital of the
Company was reduced by HK$448,992,000 through a reduction in the nominal value
of the share capital of the Company. The credit arising as a result of the reduction of
the share capital of approximately HK$448,992,000 was transferred to the contributed
surplus.
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27. RESERVES

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

(iii)
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27. RESERVES (continued)

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

(a) Group (continued)
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On 28 July 2005, a capital reorganisation scheme was approved by the shareholders
under a special resolution, pursuant to which, every ten shares of HK$0.01 each in the
issued share capital of the Company were consolidated into one consolidated share
of HK$0.10 and every issued consolidated share was reduced in nominal amount by
cancelling HK$0.09 of the capital paid up for each issued consolidated share so as
to form (after the share consolidation) one reorganised share of HK$0.01. The credit
arising from the capital reorganisation of HK$101,992,000 was transferred to the
contributed surplus.
(b) Company
Share
premium
account
HK$’000

Share
Capital
option redemption Contributed Accumulated
reserve
reserve
surplus
losses
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

At 1 April 2006
Premium upon issue
of shares (note 26)
Share issue expenses (note 26)
Loss for the year

310,000

–

556

594,673

(676,455)

228,774

71,391
(1,105)
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
(40,209)

71,391
(1,105)
(40,209)

At 31 March 2007 and 1 April 2007
Premium upon issue
of shares (note 26)
Share issue expenses (note 26)
Exercise of share options (note 26)
Equity-settled share option
arrangements (note 28)
Loss for the year

380,286

–

556

594,673

(716,664)

258,851

317,580
(3,545)
6,734

–
–
(2,272)

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

317,580
(3,545)
4,462

–
–

15,232
–

–
–

–
–

–
(223,938)

15,232
(223,938)

701,055

12,960

556

594,673

(940,602)

368,642

At 31 March 2008
Note:

The contributed surplus of the Company arose as a result of the Group reorganisation referred
to in (a) above and represents the excess of the then combined net assets of the subsidiaries
acquired over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.
In addition, the capital reorganisation described in (a) above also resulted in an aggregate credit
balance of approximately HK$550,984,000 being transferred to the Company’s contributed surplus.
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Under the Scheme, share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates are subject to approval in
advance by the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any grant of share options
to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or
to any of their associates, which would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and including the
date of such grant in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue and with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant)
in excess of HK$5,000,000 is subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.

97
2007-2008 ANNUAL REPORT

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options granted
and to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent to 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue as at the date of approval of the Scheme unless approval for refreshing
the 10% limit from the Company’s shareholders has been obtained. The total number of
shares of the Company available for issue under the Scheme is 163,178,304 shares as
at the date of the annual report. The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the share options granted to each eligible participant in the Scheme
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) within any 12-month period, is
limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue. Any further grant of share options in
excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants include the Company’s directors, including independent
non-executive directors, other employees of the Group or any invested entity, suppliers
of goods or services to the Group or any invested entity, customers of the Group or any
invested entity, shareholders of the Group or any invested entity, holders of securities of the
Group or any invested entity and persons or entities that provide research, development
or other technological support to the Group or any invested entity. The Scheme became
effective on 27 August 2003 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from that date.
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
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The offer of a grant of share options under the Scheme may be accepted within 28 days
from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the
grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted is determined by the directors,
save that such period shall not be more than 10 years from the date of adoption of the
Scheme subject to the provisions for early termination set out in the Scheme. Unless
otherwise determined by the directors at their sole discretion, there is no requirement of a
minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be exercised.
The exercise price of share options granted under the Scheme is determined by the
directors, but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company’s shares on the date of offer of the share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company on the date of offer.
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’
meetings.
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The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme during the year:
2008
Weighted
average
exercise price
HK$
per share

2007
Weighted
Number
average
of options exercise price
’000
HK$
per share

Number
of options
’000

At 1 April
Granted during the year
Exercised during the year

–
0.357
0.357

–
86,190
(12,860)

–
–
–

–
–
–

At 31 March

0.357

73,330

–

–

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during
the year was HK$0.703 (2007: Nil).
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
The exercise price and exercise period of the share options outstanding as at that balance
sheet date are as follows:

73,330
*

Exercise price
per share *
HK$

Exercise period

0.357

13 August 2007-12 August 2009

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in case of rights or bonus
issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

2008
Dividend yield (%)
Expected volatility (%)
Historical volatility (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%)
Share price at grant date (HK$)

N/A
98.09
98.09
3.99
HK$0.34

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of
future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.
No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the measurement of fair value.
The 12,860,000 share options exercised during the year resulted in the issue of 12,860,000
ordinary shares of the Company and new share capital of HK$129,000 and share premium
of HK$4,462,000 (before issue expenses), as further detailed in note 26 to the financial
statements.
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The fair value of the equity-settled share options granted during the year was estimated by
RHL Appraisal Limited, an independent firm of professionally qualified valuers, using the
binomial option pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted. The fair value of the equity-settled share options granted during the
year was HK$15,232,000 (2007: Nil) of which the Group recognised a share option expense
of HK$15,232,000 (2007: Nil) during the year ended 31 March 2008. The following table
lists the inputs to the model used:

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

2008
Number of options
’000
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

At the balance sheet date, the Company had 73,330,000 share options outstanding under
the Scheme. The exercise in full of the remaining share options would, under the present
capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of 73,330,000 additional ordinary
shares of the Company and additional share capital of HK$733,000 and share premium of
HK$25,446,000 (before issue expenses).
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At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company had 73,330,000 share
options outstanding under the Scheme, which represented approximately 2.6% of the
Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

29. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Major non-cash transaction
During the year ended 31 March 2007, the Group’s equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss with a carrying amount of HK$33,176,000 were exchanged for cash
amounting to HK$7,960,000 and the Hanny Convertible Notes with an initial fair value of
HK$41,136,000.

30. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
At 31 March 2008, the Group’s banking facilities were secured by the Group’s fixed
deposits of HK$7,274,000 (2007: HK$6,996,000) (note 21).

31. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group leases certain of its office properties under operating lease arrangements.
Leases for properties are negotiated for terms ranging from one to two years.
At 31 March 2008, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under noncancellable operating leases falling due as follows:
Group

Within one year
In the second to fifth years, inclusive

2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

1,632
15

2,121
1,512

1,647

3,633

Notes to the Financial Statements
31 March 2008

31. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (continued)
In addition, the Group is required to pay an annual fee in respect of the use of certain land
in Mainland China for its electronic products business up to 2011 with an increment of 15%
for every ten years commencing from 1993. The total future annual fee payables under such
non-cancellable operating lease falling due as follows:

Within one year
In the second to fifth years, inclusive

2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

96
248

83
214

344

297

At the balance sheet date, the Company had no significant operating lease commitments
(2007: Nil).
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32. COMMITMENTS

Group
2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

66,885

–

At the balance sheet date, the Company did not have any significant commitment (2007:
Nil).

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Group considers the directors of the Company to be the key management personnel,
whose compensation has been disclosed in note 8 to the financial statements.
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In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 31 above, the Group had
the following capital commitments at the balance sheet date:

Contracted, but not provided for:
Capital contributions to the JV Company

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Group
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the balance
sheet date are as follows:

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Group – 2008
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Financial assets

Convertible notes – loan portion
Available-for-sale equity investments
Convertible notes – conversion
option derivative
Equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss
Trade and bill receivables
Financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and
other receivables
Pledged time deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Financial
assets at fair
value through
profit or loss –
held for trading
HK$’000

Loans and
receivables
HK$’000

Availablefor-sale
financial
assets
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

–
–

43,285
–

–
27,768

43,285
27,768

1,588

–

–

1,588

323,793
–

–
24,642

–
–

323,793
24,642

–
–
–

1,031
7,274
244,012

–
–
–

1,031
7,274
244,012

325,381

320,244

27,768

673,393
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the balance
sheet date are as follows: (continued)
Group – 2008

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
HK$’000
16,413
154,315

Trade and bills payables
Convertible bonds

170,728
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Group – 2007

Financial
assets at fair
value through
profit or loss –
held for trading
HK$’000

Loans and
receivables
HK$’000

Availablefor-sale
financial
assets
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

–
–

39,842
–

–
212,669

39,842
212,669

2,520

–

–

2,520

118,873
–

–
10,462

–
–

118,873
10,462

–
–
–

810
6,996
48,425

–
–
–

810
6,996
48,425

121,393

106,535

212,669

440,597
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Financial assets

Convertible notes – loan portion
Available-for-sale equity investments
Convertible notes – conversion
option derivative
Equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss
Trade and bills receivables
Financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and
other receivables
Pledged time deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Financial liabilities
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the balance
sheet date are as follows: (continued)

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Group – 2007
Financial liabilities
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
HK$’000
Trade and bills payables
Finance lease payables

5,935
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5,866
69

Company
All the Company’s financial assets as at 31 March 2008 and 2007, including amounts
due from subsidiaries, deposits and other receivables, and cash and cash equivalents are
categorised as loans and receivables.
All the Company’s financial liabilities as at 31 March 2008 and 2007, including amounts due
to subsidiaries and convertible bonds, are categorised as financial liabilities at amortised
cost.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign
currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and equity price risk. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.
Interest rate risk
The Group does not have any significant exposure to risk of changes in market interest
rates, and therefore it does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge its debt
obligations.

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise equity investments, convertible
bonds, cash and short term deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments is
to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables. Details of the major financial
instruments and the Group’s accounting policies in relation to them are disclosed in note 2.4
to the financial statements.
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Foreign currency risk

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However,
management monitors the foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposures should the need arise.
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The Group has currency exposures as its sales were denominated in United States dollars.
As United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars are pegged, the Group does not expect any
significant movements in exchange rates in the foreseeable future.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Credit risk
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The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s
policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the
Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. The Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debtor at each balance sheet date to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise cash and cash
equivalents, pledged time deposits, available-for-sale equity investments and equity
investments at fair value through profit or loss, arises from default of the counterparty, with a
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.
Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no
requirement for collateral.
Liquidity risk
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool.
This tool considers the maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g.,
trade and bills receivables) and projected cash flows from operations.
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility
through the use of the Group’s available cash and its available banking facilities.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

Group – 2008

Trade and bills payables
Convertible bonds

3 to
less than
12 months
HK$’000

1 to 5
years
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

–
–

16,413
–

–
–

–
200,000

16,413
200,000

–

16,413

–

200,000

216,413

On demand
HK$’000

Less than
3 months
HK$’000

3 to
less than
12 months
HK$’000

1 to 5
years
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

–
–

5,866
21

–
50

–
–

5,866
71

–

5,887

50

–

5,937

Group – 2007

Trade and bills payables
Finance lease payables
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On demand
HK$’000

Less than
3 months
HK$’000

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the balance sheet date, based on
the contracted undiscounted payments, was as follows:
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Liquidity risk (continued)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the balance sheet date, based on
the contracted undiscounted payments, was as follows: (continued)
Company – 2008

Convertible bonds
Due to subsidiaries

2007-2008 ANNUAL REPORT

108

On demand
HK$’000

Less than
3 months
HK$’000

3 to
less than
12 months
HK$’000

1 to 5
years
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

–
7,498

–
–

–
–

200,000
–

200,000
7,498

7,498

–

–

200,000

207,498

On demand
HK$’000

Less than
3 months
HK$’000

3 to
less than
12 months
HK$’000

1 to 5
years
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

44,724

–

–

–

44,724

Company – 2007

Due to subsidiaries
Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities decrease as a result of
changes in the value of individual securities. The Group is exposed to equity price risk
arising from individual equity investments classified as trading equity investments (note
18) and available-for-sale investments (note 17) as at 31 March 2008. The Group’s listed
investments are listed on the Hong Kong and Singapore stock exchanges and are valued at
quoted market prices at the balance sheet date.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)
Equity price risk (continued)

Carrying
amount of equity
investments
HK$’000

Change
in the
Group’s loss
before tax
HK$’000

Change
in the
Group’s
equity
HK$’000

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 5% (2007: 10%) change in the
fair values of the equity investments, with all other variables held constant and before any
impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at the balance sheet date. For the purpose
of this analysis, for the available-for-sale equity investments the impact is deemed to be
on the available-for-sale equity investment revaluation reserve and no account is given for
factors such as impairment which might impact on the income statement.
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2008

396
323,793

–
16,188

20
16,188

Singapore - Available-for-sale

27,372

–

1,368

Investments listed in:
Hong Kong - Available-for-sale
- Held-for-trading

185,186
118,873

–
11,887

18,518
11,887

Singapore - Available-for-sale

27,483

–

2,748

2007
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Investments listed in:
Hong Kong - Available-for-sale
- Held-for-trading
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

Capital management
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The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to safeguard the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholder value.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes
in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 March 2008 and 2007.
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-equity ratio calculated as total debt
divided by total equity. The debt-to-equity ratio as at the balance sheet dates were as
follows:
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Group

2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

Trade and bills payables
Other payables and accruals
Liability component of the Convertible Bonds

16,413
7,689
154,315

5,866
23,327
–

Total debt

178,417

29,193

Total equity

495,822

404,633

36%

7%

Debt-to-equity ratio
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36. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group entered into
the following agreements subsequent to the balance sheet date, which were significant to
the operations of the Group.
Agreement in relation to Saigon Port-Hiep Phuoc Joint Stock Company (the
“Saigon Port Company”)
On 14 April 2008, the Group entered into an agreement with VSFC. Pursuant to which,
the Group agreed to acquire a 5% shareholding interest in the Saigon Port Company
from VSFC at a consideration of VND3,155,000,000 (approximately of HK$1,513,000)
and was granted the right to contribute an additional capital to attain the 5% share
in the capital of the Saigon Port Company at every time this company increases
its capital. The Saigon Port Company was established in Vietnam and is principally
engaged in the construction and operation of the Saigon-Hiep Phuoc Port (the “Saigon
Port Project”) located in Vietnam. The total investment capital of the Saigon Port
Project is estimated at VND2,735,000,000,000 (approximately HK$1.3 billion). Further
details of the agreement are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 14
April 2008.
Master franchise and license agreement in relation to the operation of Circle K
Stores in Vietnam
On 25 April 2008, the Group entered into a master franchise and license agreement
(the “License Agreement”) with Circle K Stores Inc. (“Circle K”), whereby Circle
K agreed to grant to the Group an exclusive right to own and operate Circle K
convenience stores in Vietnam for a period of 25 years from the date of the License
Agreement. Under the License Agreement, the Group is required to pay a nonrefundable fee of US$380,000 (approximately HK$2,964,000) as the master license
fee. In addition, the Group has agreed to pay quarterly royalty fees based on a certain
percentage of the gross sales generated by the Circle K convenience stores. Further
details of the License Agreement are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 2 May 2008.
Save as disclosed above, no other significant events took place subsequent to 31
March 2008.
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(ii)
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(i)
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37. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

GR VIETNAM HOLDINGS LIMITED

As further explained in note 2.2 to the financial statements, due to the adoption of the
new and revised HKFRSs during the current year, certain comparative amounts have
been adjusted to conform with the current year’s presentation and to show separately
comparative amounts in respect of items disclosed for the first time in 2008.
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38. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors
on 14 July 2008.

